

LUND UNIVERSITY

Crosstalk between Inflammation and Coagulation in Acute Pancreatitis - Experimental and Clinical Studies.

Andersson, Ellen

2010

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Andersson, E. (2010). Crosstalk between Inflammation and Coagulation in Acute Pancreatitis - Experimental and Clinical Studies. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Surgery (Lund)]. Ellen Andersson.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Bulletin No. 138 from the Department of Surgery, Lund University, Sweden

Crosstalk between Inflammation and Coagulation in Acute Pancreatitis

Experimental and Clinical Studies

Ellen Andersson, MD

Department of Surgery, Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University, Sweden

Doctoral thesis 2010



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

© Ellen Andersson, MD, 2010 Contact: ellen.andersson@med.lu.se skalpellen@hotmail.com

Supervisor: Professor Roland Andersson Department of Surgery, Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University Hospital, Sweden

Bulletin No.138 from the Department of Surgery. Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86443-95-5 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2010:79

Cover photograph by Mikael Risedal

Printed by Media-Tryck Lund, Sweden, 2010

Nunc cognosco ex parte.

1 Corinthians 13:12

Il faut cultiver son jardin.

Voltaire

To Hugo

CONTENTS

| CONTENTS |
|--|
| ORIGINAL PAPERS |
| THESIS AT A GLANCE |
| POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING9 |
| Abbrevations |
| INTRODUCTION |
| General Background |
| Acute pancreatitis from a clinical perspective15 |
| Pathophysiology16 |
| Inflammatory cells and mediators |
| Crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation23 |
| Modulating inflammation and coagulation31 |
| Haemorrhagic events in acute pancreatitis |
| Coagulation parameters as predictors of severity |
| AIMS |
| MATERIAL AND METHODS |
| RESULTS |
| DISCUSSION |
| Conclusions |
| FUTURE ASPECTS |
| Acknowledgements |
| REFERENCES |
| PAPERS I-V |

ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following original papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

- I. Andersson E, Axelsson J, Pedersen LC, Elm T, Andersson R. Treatment with anti-factor VII in acute pancreatitis in rats blocking both coagulation and inflammation? *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* 2007;42:765-70.
- II. Axelsson J, Andersson E, Andersson R, Lasson Å. NFkB activation and anticoagulant treatment during acute pancreatitis in rat. *Journal of Organ Dysfunction 2008;4:85-92*
- III. Andersson E, Axelsson J, Andersson R. Treatment with active site inhibited factor VIIa effects on inflammation in experimental acute pancreatitis. *Annals of Gastroenterology 2010;23:180-86.*
- IV. Andersson E, Ansari D, Andersson R. Major haemorrhagic complications of acute pancreatitis. *British Journal of Surgery, in press. Epub Jun 16, 2010.*
- V. Andersson E, Axelsson J, Eckerwall G, Ansari D, Andersson R. Tissue factor in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. *Submitted*.

THESIS AT A GLANCE

| | Question | Method | Result | Conclusion |
|-----|---|--|--|--|
| I | Does prophylaxis with FVIIai reduce systemic inflammation in experimental severe AP? | TDC-induced AP, ELISA, enzyme Analysis | Neutrophil recruitment in lung and ileum and levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in plasma were reduced with FVIIai pre- treatment. | FVIIai pre-treatment in experimental severe AP inhibits systemic inflammation. |
| II | Does FVIIai prophylaxis affect activation of NFKB in remote organs during experimental severe AP? | TDC-induced AP, ELISA | NFκB activation in lungs, ileum and liver was decreased by FVIIai pre- treatment. | NFkB activation in remote organs is reduced with FVIIai pre-treatment in experimental severe AP. |
| III | Does treatment with FVIIai reduce systemic inflammation in experimental severe AP? | TDC- induced AP, ELISA, enzyme Analysis | Tissue neutrophil recruitment in lung was reduced with early FVIIai treatment. | Early FVIIai treatment exhibits some systemic anti-inflammatory effects in experimental severe AP. |
| IV | What is the incidence and outcome of major haemorrhagic complications in AP, and how are they managed? | Retrospective study of patients' charts | 14/1356 patients with AP had severe bleeding complications. 5/14 died. Angiographic intervention was successful in 1/3 patients. Two patients were subjected to surgery. | Major bleeding complications are rare, but clinically challenging and associated with high mortality. |
| V | Are levels of tissue factor (TF) altered in the early course of predicted severe AP and are TF levels related to severity? | Prospective clinical study, ELISA | Levels of TF, in the early phase of predicted severe AP, are higher in patients with "true" severe AP than in those who develop mild disease. | High levels of TF early in the course of AP seems to be associated with severe AP. |

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Akut pankreatit (AP) är en inflammation i bukspottskörteln, som oftast utlöses av gallstenssjukdom eller alkoholintag. Varför man får akut pankreatit vet man inte och inte heller varför de flesta patienter återhämtar sig på ett par dagar, medan ca 20 procent drabbas av en betydligt svårare form av sjukdomen. Vid svår AP ses en kraftig inflammatorisk reaktion i hela kroppen, där andra organ såsom lungor, njurar och lever kan drabbas och i värsta fall sluta fungera. Dödligheten i den svåra formen av AP är hög och likaså risken för resttillstånd, t ex i form av diabetes eller brist på matspjälkningsenzymer.

Att det finns ett samspel mellan inflammation och blodets levringsförmåga (koagulation) är känt sedan länge. I det normala fallet pågår en konstant balansakt mellan inflammation och anti-inflammation, och mellan koagulation och anti-koagulation. Vid svår inflammation kan denna balans dock rubbas. I de allvarligaste fallen kan inflammationen leda till ett tillstånd av bildning av små proppar i blodkärlen i hela kroppen, där ämnen som behövs för att blodet ska levra sig konsumeras. Den uppkomna bristen på material som behövs för att blodet ska levra sig leder till samtidiga blödningar på andra ställen i kroppen. Med olika sorters blodförtunnande medicin (anti-koagulantia) har man kunnat påvisa en samtidig hämning av inflammation, vilket avspeglar det nära samarbetet som pågår mellan dessa system. Hur samspelet mellan koagulation och inflammation ser ut vid AP och vilken effekt anti-koagulantia har på det inflammatoriska svaret vid AP är knapphändigt studerat.

I detta avhandlingsarbete har anti-koagulation i form av en inaktiverad form av koagulationsfaktor VII (FVIIai) använts. Den normala formen av koagulationsfaktor VII (FVII) cirkulerar i blodet i en inaktiv form, som aktiveras och startar blodkoagulationen då den binds till vävnadsfaktor (tissue factor). Tissue factor (TF) är en bindnings- och signaleringsanordning som uttrycks på cellytan på en rad celler belägna utanför blodbanan och som exponeras då ett blodkärl går sönder. Man har även sett att vissa celler involverade i kroppens försvar, såsom vita blodkroppar och celler på insidan av kärl, kan uttrycka TF vid inflammation. Dessutom har man sett att FVII och TF inte bara kan starta blodkoagulation, utan också kan vara inblandade i en rad andra funktioner i kroppen, såsom reglering av inflammation, cellers rörlighet och tillväxt av vanliga celler och cancerceller.

I de tre första delarbetena i denna avhandling studeras behandlingseffekten av FVIIai i en modell på råttor, som ges en mycket svår form av AP. I det första arbetet studeras effekten då FVIIai ges som förbehandling, det vill säga innan råttan får AP. Resultaten

visar att inflammationen lindrades i lungor och tarm samt att nivån av cirkulerande inflammatoriska ämnen i blodet (IL-6 och MIP-2) var lägre hos råttor som förbehandlats med FVIIai.

I det andra arbetet studeras huruvida aktiveringen av nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) påverkas vid förbehandling med FVIIai hos råttor med svår AP. NF κ B är en molekyl som finns i många av kroppens celler och som sköter reglering av hur gener uttrycks i cellerna, vilket i sin tur reglerar uttrycket av vissa inflammatoriska ämnen i kroppen. Resultaten visade att aktiveringen av NF κ B var lägre hos råttor förbehandlade med FVIIai, vilket tyder på att hämning av NF κ B utgör åtminstone en av verkningsmekanismerna för FVIIai:s inflammationsdämpande effekt.

I det tredje arbetet studeras effekten av efterbehandling med FVIIai, det vill säga behandling med FVIIai som ges till råttor som redan har svår AP. Detta scenario liknar mer verkligheten där man oftast inte kan behandla patienterna innan de blir sjuka. Resultaten visade en viss dämpad inflammation i lunga och en tendens till lägre nivåer av inflammatoriska ämnen i blodet. Effekten var dock betydligt mindre uttalad än när FVIIai gavs som förbehandling.

I det fjärde arbetet studeras förekomst av svåra blödningar hos patienter med AP. 1356 patientjournaler från 1994-2009 på alla patienter som vårdats i Lund med diagnosen AP gicks igenom. Resultaten visar att det är mycket ovanligt med svåra blödningar. Bara 14 patienter med svåra blödningar hittades. Trots att det är ovanligt med svåra blödningar vid AP kunde man konstatera att dödligheten bland dessa patienter var mycket hög och att stora resurser i form operationer eller behandling via kärlröntgen (angiografi) ofta krävdes.

I det femte arbetet studeras nivåerna av TF i blodet hos 49 patienter med AP under de första tre dagarna på sjukhuset. Resultaten visar att TF är högre i gruppen av patienter som utvecklar en svår form av sjukdomen. Detta kan tyda på att TF är inblandat i utveckling av svår AP. När det gäller möjlighet att förutspå vilka patienter som kommer att få den svåra formen av sjukdomen visade sig nivån av TF vara bättre på att förutsäga detta än det kliniskt mest använda blodprovet, C-reaktivt protein (CRP), i prover tagna vid inkomst till sjukhuset.

Sammanfattningsvis dras slutsatserna:

- Att FVIIai har inflammationshämmande effekter i denna råttmodell av svår AP.

- Att NFκB-aktivering verkar vara en mekanism som påverkas av FVIIai.

- Att svåra blödningar hos patienter med AP är mycket ovanliga men svårbehandlade och riskfyllda.

- Att nivåerna av TF stiger tidigt vid AP och möjligen kan vara till hjälp för att förutsäga vilka patienter som kommer att utveckla svår AP.

ABBREVATIONS

| AP | acute pancreatitis |
|-----------------------|--|
| APACHE | Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation |
| APC /PC | activated protein C / protein C |
| APTT | activated partial thromobplastin time |
| AT III | antithrombin III |
| Ca / Ca ²⁺ | calcium / calcium ions |
| CINC | cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant |
| CRP | C-reactive protein |
| DIC | disseminated intravascular coagulation |
| ELISA | enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay |
| FDP | fibrin degradation product |
| FI-FXIII | coagulation factors, denoted by their Roman numerals |
| FVIIa | activated form of coagulation factor VII |
| FVIIai | active-site inactivated factor VII |
| EPCR | endothelial protein C receptor |
| ERCP | endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography |
| IL | interleukin |
| ΝFκB | nuclear factor kappa B |
| MCP-1 | monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 |
| MIP-2 | macrophage inflammatory protein-2 |
| MPO | myeloperoxidase |
| PAI | plasminogen activator inhibitor |
| tPA / uPA | tissue type/urokinase plasminogen activator |
| PAF | platelet activating factor |
| PAR | protease activated receptor |
| PT-INR | prothrombin time - international normalised ratio |
| TAFI | thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor |
| TDC | taurodeoxycholate |
| TF / asTF | tissue factor / alternatively spliced tissue factor |
| TFPI | tissue factor pathway inhibitor |
| TNF- α | tumour necrosis factor alpha |
| SIRS | systemic inflammatory response syndrome |
| | |

INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is an inflammatory process affecting the pancreatic gland. The spectrum of the disease ranges from a mild, self-limiting illness to a scenario of life-threatening multi-organ failure. Most patients presenting with AP will recover completely within a couple of days. In severe AP, however, the local inflammation is accompanied by a severe systemic inflammatory condition, potential pancreatic necrosis, organ failure, sepsis and death.

In literature, the history of acute pancreatitis (AP) starts in 1652, with one of the first known descriptions of the disease made by Nicholas Tulp, a Dutch physician and anatomist. Much progress in understanding the disease was made by Reginald Fitz, an internist and pathologist in Boston, who presented his work on AP in 1889. He described both clinical symptoms and pathologic findings of pus, necrosis and haemorrhage, as well as disseminated fat necrosis (Fitz 1889). His work reflects the wide variation in severity of AP.

Suggesting biliary reflux as the cause of AP, in 1901 Eugene Opie proposed that gallstone migration into the common bile duct was the cause of AP (Opie 1901). Opie's theory is still often cited, even though the harmful event is considered to be the increased pressure within the pancreatic duct, rather than the bile reflux *per se.* It was not until 1917 that alcohol was firmly established as an important pathogenetic factor in AP (Symmers 1917, Pannala et al. 2009). Progress in understanding the pathophysiology of the systemic engagement in AP was made by Rinderknecht in 1988. He hypothesised that an excessive stimulation of leukocytes, rather than circulating pancreatic digestive enzymes, was responsible for the systemic progression of the disease (Rinderknecht 1988).

In the past decades, focus in research on AP has been set on understanding the pathophysiologic mechanisms, improving intensive care, optimising diagnostic tools and finding early predictors of severity. Despite remarkable progress, our understanding of the pathophysiology and the ability to accurately predict the severity of AP remain limited, and the most effective remedies for AP are still purely supportive in nature. Although many different substances with versatile modes of action have demonstrated promising results in the experimental setting, the progress concerning specific clinical therapy has been limited. With many unresolved questions concerning the underlying pathophysiology and its enigmatic wide variation in clinical presentation, AP still remains a clinical and scientific challenge.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

Acute pancreatitis from a clinical perspective

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is an inflammatory process in the pancreas. It involves local inflammation of the pancreatic gland (Figure 1), but may progress into a systemic inflammatory response (SIRS) and failure of one or more distant organs (Bradley 1993).

The clinical diagnosis of AP is based on the combination of acute upper abdominal pain and elevated plasma levels of pancreas-specific amylase or lipase (Steinberg et al. 1994). Severe AP is defined by scoring systems based on clinical presentation (according to e.g. Ranson or APACHE II), evidence of organ dysfunction and intrapancreatic pathology, such as the development of necrosis or pseudo-cysts (Bradley 1993).



Figure 1. The pancreatic gland and its relation to the duodenum and the gallbladder.

AP affects about 300 patients per 10⁶ inhabitants and year. The cause of AP is in most cases gallstone disease or excessive alcohol consumption (Andersson et al. 2004, Appelros et al. 1999). Most patients present with a mild, self-limiting disease, with complete recovery within a couple of days. However, 15-20 percent will succumb to a severe form of AP, associated with multiple organ failure, sepsis and death. The rate of mortality in severe AP is reported to be in the range of 9-47 percent (Appelros et al. 2001, Gloor et al. 2001, Andersson et al. 2004, Gislason et al. 2004).

Two peaks in mortality are seen during the duration of illness. About 50 percent of deaths occur within the first week. The cause of these early deaths is considered to be

a severe initial attack of AP, followed by an excessive SIRS, concomitant multi-organ failure and death. The second peak in mortality occurs after about two to three weeks. These patients survive the first storm of severe systemic inflammation, but develop extensive pancreatic and peripancreatic necroses complicated by infection, sepsis and death.

Certain prognostic factors increasing the risk of severe AP and mortality, such as high age (Compañy 2003) and obesity (Martinez 2006), have been suggested. The answer to why some patients recover in a few days from a mild episode of AP, while others progress to severe disease is, however, still not known.

Pathophysiology

The exact mechanisms eliciting AP are not clear. Regardless of aetiology, the most common theory is that AP starts by an injury to the pancreatic acinar cells, resulting in leakage of pancreatic enzymes into adjacent tissue. The activation of trypsinogen to trypsin plays a key role in this process, leading to cell injury in experimental models of acute pancreatitis and in experiments on isolated pancreatic acinar cells (Saluja et al. 1997 and 1999). Activation of proteases and lipase leads to auto-digestion of cells and stroma, eventually causing oedema, necrosis and vascular damage. Protective mechanisms preventing premature activation of the pancreatic enzymes include the synthesis of trypsin as an inactive enzyme, trypsinogen, autolysis of activated trypsin, enzyme compartmentalisation, synthesis of specific trypsin inhibitors and low intracellular ionised Ca²⁺ concentrations. Larger amounts of liberated trypsin, however, overwhelm the defence mechanisms of the pancreas, and activate other pro-enzymes.

After the initial pancreatic acinar cell injury, irrespective of the triggering factor, pathophysiologic steps seem to take a similar path for all patients with AP. The subsequent extra-acinar events consist mainly of a distinct immune response. Inflammation is initiated with local production of mediators such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, and IL-8, which are released from acinar cells, endothelial cells and pancreatic duct cells (Bhatia et al. 2001, Schafer et al. 2005). Circulating monocytes, neutrophils and lymphocytes are activated by pro-inflammatory cytokines, and adhesion molecules expressed by endothelial cells allow these cells trans-endothelial migration into the pancreatic interstitial space. These infiltrating inflammatory cells accelerate further production and secretion of cytokines. As a result, more leukocytes in the circulation and endothelial cells in the pancreas and in distant organs, such as the lung and the liver, are activated. This activation elicits further microcirculatory derangements, such as increased vascular permeability and accelerated leukocyte transmigration.

The progression of AP can be viewed as a three-phase continuum: local pancreatic inflammation, a generalised inflammatory response, and the final stage of sepsis, with multiple organ dysfunction (Figure 2). The disease process can extend to any of the three phases. The disease is often resolved after the local inflammatory process, resulting in mild AP. If the disease progresses injury in remote organs can be elicited by the release of inflammatory mediators from the pancreas and from extra-pancreatic organs, such as the liver and the lungs. A SIRS-scenario with remote organ dysfunction will result in severe cases, where respiratory failure tends to come first, followed by liver and kidney dysfunction, and eventually potential failure of all other organ systems, such as cardiac failure and gut barrier dysfunction. As a consequence of inflammation, local complications, such as acinar cell necrosis, pseudocyst formation, and abscesses can develop.

The patients surviving the first insult may die later by an initially minor infection, such as a line infection or pneumonia, that normally would not be life-threatening. According to this "two-hit hypothesis", the initial overactive SIRS somehow primes the inflammatory response, leading to an exaggerated secondary SIRS and possibly death (Weber et al. 2001, Bhatia et al. 2000, Moore et al. 1995).



Figure 2. Pathophysiology of disease progression in acute pancreatitis.

Inflammatory cells and mediators

Multiple cells are involved in elaboration of the inflammatory mediators in AP, the most important cells being the pancreatic acinar cells, the endothelial cells, the neutrophils, the lymphocytes, and the macrophages/monocytes. A variety of inflammatory mediators are engaged in the inflammatory process, where cytokines and free oxygen radicals released from different cells play prominent roles. They elicit responses resulting in modulation of leukocyte trafficking, increased vascular permeability, localised tissue destruction, and generalised inflammation, with damage to lung, kidney, and various other organs.

Monocytes/macrophages

The mononuclear phagocyte system consists of leukocytes, whose primary function is phagocytosis. Monocytes are the circulating form, and once settled in tissue the monocytes mature and become macrophages. Monocytes/macrophages are "scavenger cells", phagocytosing foreign particles, such as microbes and antigens, malfunctioning endogenous cells and cellular debris. Macrophages are also capable of producing cytokines and chemokines that recruit other inflammatory cells, especially neutrophils. The macrophage interacts with lymphocytes by presenting antigens on its surface, and lymphocytes may enhance the phagocytic efficacy of macrophages, by activating macrophages through cytokine release.

Resident macrophages seem to play a minor role during the initiating process of AP, but it has been shown that monocytes are rapidly recruited in several models of AP, including the caerulein (Adler et al., 1979) and taurodeoxycholate (TDC) (Axelsson et al., 2007) models of experimental AP in rats.

Monocytes cause tissue damage during AP by releasing reactive oxygen species. In contrast to neutrophils, targeted depletion of monocytes or its chemotactic agents, does not reduce the local pancreatic injury, but only ameliorates secondary effects such as AP-induced pulmonary injury (Gerard et al., 1997).

Mast cells

The mast cell is resident in many tissues. It contains granules rich in histamine and heparin. Mast cells express tissue and urokinase plasminogen activator (tPA, uPA). The mast cell is a key component of the immune system and the normal inflammatory response. Its vicious potential is demonstrated in anaphylactic reactions. A very large population of mast cells resides in the periacinar space and pancreatic interstitium, and it degranulates early in acute pancreatitis, especially in the severe forms. Mast cells degranulation occurs within five minutes in lethal bile-salt pancreatitis (Closa et al. 1994), but not for three to four hours in the mild caeruleininduced pancreatitis rat model (Shimizu et al. 1993). The release of mast cell mediators focuses inflammation and the enzymatic assault to the gland's interstitium and the peritoneal compartment. It has been speculated that mast-cell tryptase is responsible for the activation not only of trypsinogen, but also of other pancreatic pro-enzymes (Vanderslice et al. 1989, Braganza 2000). Mast cells can amplify lung damage by way of products with degranulating capacity that enter lymphatics and venules, and can activate blood coagulation (Colman et al. 1997, Valent et al. 1998). Mast-cell mediators may also be involved in fibrinolysis by the release of tPA and uPA without PAI (Valent et al. 1998). Activation of mast cells is involved in the development of endothelial barrier dysfunction in both the pancreas and extrapancreatic organs (Dib et al. 2002) and mast cell stabilizers prevent pancreatitisinduced pulmonary endothelial barrier dysfunction (Zhao et al. 2005).

Neutrophils

Circulating polymorphonuclear leukocytes, or neutrophils, respond rapidly to chemotactic stimuli, and are able to phagocytose and destroy foreign particles. Neutrophils are recruited by the chemoattractant IL-8 in humans and mainly by CXCL2 (MIP-2) in rats. Once activated, primarily by cytokines produced by endothelial cells and macrophages, neutrophils are able to extravasate and migrate to sites of inflammation. They exert an important part of the immune response and release proteins such as myeloperoxidase (MPO) and elastase. MPO is an iron-containing heme protein localized in the azurophilic granules of neutrophils and in the lysosomes of monocytes involved in the killing of several micro-organisms and foreign cells, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, red blood cells, and malignant and non-malignant nucleated cells. Although it is expressed by other cells, it occurs in higher amounts in neutrophils.

Neutrophils are considered to be the predominant inflammatory cells inflicting damage to the pancreatic tissue. Depletion of neutrophils in caerulein-induced pancreatitis dramatically reduces severity and injury of the pancreatic parenchyma, and limits the extension of remote organ injury, e.g. in the lungs (Pastor et al. 2006). In a model of severe AP less pulmonary injury and increased survival rates were noted in neutrophil depleted rats (Inoue et al. 1995).

Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are capable of specifically recognising and distinguishing different antigenic determinants. The lymphocytes consist of B-lymphocytes, T-lymphocytes and natural killer cells. They may be further subdivided into functional subsets, defined by different surface antigens, "clusters of differentiation; CD". In response to antigens, T-lymphocytes may recruit and activate other inflammatory cells, such as monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils. Lymphocyte infiltration into the pancreatic tissue occurs early in AP. Depletion of CD4+ cells, but not depletion of CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocytes, decreases pancreatic injury in caerulein-induced AP (Demols et al. 2000). This implies that the non-cytotoxic functions of lymphocytes, such as cytokine release and activation of other inflammatory cells, may be of importance. The mechanisms of action of CD4+ lymphocytes in AP are, however, not clarified.

The aetiology of AP may predict the role of lymphocytes, since biliary-induced AP showed an increased number of circulating CD4+, while alcohol-induced AP did not (Bhatnagar et al. 2001). It has been demonstrated that there is a significant decrease in the number of total circulating lymphocytes and lymphocyte subset count relative to controls in the early phases of human AP (Pezzilli et al. 1995). An impaired early activation of a certain subtype of T-lymphocytes, CD19+, has been detected in patients with severe AP, when compared to patients with other causes of acute abdominal disease (Pezzilli et al. 2003). In patients with severe AP, a dramatic depletion of circulating natural killer cells was found along with a reduction of circulating CD3+ and cytotoxic CD8+ lymphocytes (Dabrowski et al. 2008).

Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines

The cytokines constitute a group of soluble proteins that are released by different cells, causing a change in function or development of the cell itself (autocrine), an adjacent cell (paracrine), or a distant cell (endocrine). Cytokines are important messengers in a variety of cellular functions, including reproduction, growth and development, normal homeostatic regulation, response to injury and repair, blood clotting, inflammation and host resistance. The expression of cytokines is a well regulated process, modulated by transcription factors such as NF κ B.

The chemokines represents a large family of small, structurally homologous cytokines. The chemokines are divided into four groups based on the cystein sequence; CXC, CC, C, and CX3C (Rollins 1997). Many chemokines, such as IL-8, have been implicated in various aspects of the propagation of AP. Chemokines act as potent chemoattractants, predominantly exerting their effects on neutrophils, but they may also be involved in regulation of recruitment of T-lymphocytes. The chemokines bind to cellular transmembrane G-protein coupled receptors. Binding leads to increased intracellular calcium concentrations and activation of protein kinase C (Makhija et al. 2002).

The pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, and platelet activating factor (PAF), the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-10, IL-11, IL-18, as well as TNF- α soluble receptors and IL-1 receptor antagonists, have been shown to be

intimately involved in the inflammatory response in AP (Makhija et al. 2002, Mayer et al. 2000, Granger et al. 2005). Important inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and short descriptions of their roles in AP, are depicted in Table 1.

| Marker | Role in acute pancreatitis |
|-------------|---|
| TNF-α | Pro-inflammatory. Neutrophil activation. Shock. |
| IL-1β | Pro-inflammatory. Neutrophil activation. Shock. |
| IL-2 | Pro-inflammatory? Raised levels in AP. |
| IL-4 | Anti-inflammatory. Inhibits release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. |
| IL-6 | Leukocyte activation. Acute phase response. Pyrexia. Correlate with severity. |
| IL-8 | Neutrophil activation and chemotaxis. Correlate with severity. |
| IL-10 | Anti-inflammatory. Inhibits release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. |
| IL-11 | Anti-inflammatory. Ameliorate histological severity. |
| IL-18 | Pro-inflammatory. |
| MCP-1 | Monocyte chemoattractant. Produced by acinar cells early on induction of AP. |
| PAF | Pro-inflammatory. |
| Substance P | Pro-inflammatory |

Table 1. Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in acute pancreatitis.

Interleukin 6

IL-6 is one of the main inducers of acute phase proteins, such as C reactive protein (CRP) and fibrinogen synthesis in the liver, and peaks earlier than CRP. IL-6 is produced by a wide spectrum of cells, including monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes, pancreatic acinar cells, pancreatic ductal cells, pancreatic stellate cells, vascular endothelial cells and fibroblasts in response to stimuli. Experimentally induced pancreatitis results in IL-6 release within the pancreatic tissue (Norman et al. 1997). Levels of IL-6 may serve as markers of severity of AP, the magnitude of the increase correlating with the course of the disease (Makhija et al. 2002). IL-6 has been demonstrated to induce coagulation in humans (Stouthard et al. 1996).

Macrophage inflammatory protein 2

Four basic neutrophil chemotactic factors (chemokines) or cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants (CINC:s) have been identified in inflammatory tissue in the rat, GRO/CINC-1, GRO/CINC-2 α , CINC-2 β , and CINC-3 (Nakagawa et al. 1994). CINC-3 was previously called MIP-2. CINC:s show large sequential similarities to human IL-8, the most important human neutrophil chemoattractant (Nakagawa et al. 1994). Rats do not express IL-8. CINC:s are believed to play an important role in the systemic inflammatory response in AP, and anti-CINC

antibodies reduce the pulmonary injury associated with caerulein-induced AP in the rat (Bhatia et al. 2000).

Nuclear factor kappa B

Increasing knowledge has been gained on the intracellular signalling pathways involved in the inflammatory response in AP, where nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), a nuclear transcription factor, is of importance. NF- κ B has been suggested to be of importance in the initiation of AP, not only in pancreatic acinar cells and monocytes/macrophages but also in distant organs, such as the lung. Normally NF- κ B is bound to inhibitors in the cytoplasm, but when cells are stimulated by cytokines or reactive oxygen species the inhibitor is phosphorylated and degraded and NF- κ B may translocate into the nucleus and induce transcription of its target genes (Figure 3) (Barnes et al. 1997). NF- κ B is able to control production of cytokines and adhesion molecules, as well as specific inducible nitric oxide synthase enzymes, mediating a variety of inflammatory events involved in AP (Rakonczay et al. 2008).



Figure 3. NF- κ B activation in response to activating signals, such as cytokines. Once the cytoplasmic inhibitor is phosphorylated and degraded, NF- κ B is released, activated and translocated into the nucleus, where it exerts its role as a transcription factor. (Adapted from Rakonczay et al. 2008).

The correlation between localized NF- κ B activation, cytokine up-regulation, and tissue damage in the pancreas suggests a key role for NF- κ B in the development of the inflammatory response of AP (Vaquero et al. 2001). In caerulein-induced AP in the rat, NF- κ B activation occurs in a biphasic manner. The first phase occurs after 30 minutes and the second phase after 3-6 hours (Gukovsky et al. 1998). In taurodeoxycholate (TDC)-induced AP in rats, nuclear translocation of the NF- κ B p65 subunit has been demonstrated to be associated with up-regulation of adhesion molecules in acinar and endothelial cells, inducing transmigration of neutrophils (Telek et al. 2001). Activated neutrophils increase production of oxygen free radicals which further enhance pancreatic NF- κ B activation (Rakonczay et al. 2008).

Crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation

It is well established that systemic inflammation and coagulation are closely linked and it has been known for long that coagulopathy is associated with AP and related to overall morbidity (Ranson et al. 1977). In the worst cases, fully developed disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) can occur (Maeda et al. 2006). Initially a direct activation by micro-organisms or endotoxin was theorised to be the trigger of coagulation in inflammatory conditions, but nowadays cytokines are attributed the role of mediating activation of the coagulation system (Levi et al. 1997). Several studies have shown the importance of IL-6 in the initiation of coagulation, and the role of TNF- α and IL-1 in the regulation of physiological anti-coagulation (Van der Poll et al. 1994, Van Deventer et al. 1990, Boermeester et al. 1995). The tissue factor – factor VII (TF-FVIIa) pathway, previously referred to as the "extrinsic pathway" (Boermeester 2009, Mackman 2009), is recognised to be the pathway activating coagulation in response to inflammation (Figure 4).

Coagulation induced by inflammation is characterised by abundant intravascular fibrin deposition, resulting from enhanced fibrin formation and impaired fibrin degradation (Wheeler et al. 1999, Vallet 2001, Levi et al. 2009). This is caused by an increase in TF/FVIIa-mediated generation of thrombin, and depression of anticoagulant mechanisms, such as protein C/protein S, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) and the antithrombin system. Endogenous fibrinolysis is impaired by high levels of circulating plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1, which is the most important inhibitor of plasminogen activation. A key to the crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation are specific cellular receptors, such as protease activated receptors (PARs) on inflammatory cells and endothelial cells, through which activated coagulation proteases may induce signalling and thereby modulate the inflammatory response (Levi et al. 2003, Pawlinski et al. 2004).



Figure 4. The coagulation system and the fibrinolytic system. Dark arrows denote inhibitory effects.

Apart from coagulopathy and thromboses, other systemic micro-vascular disturbances including vasoconstriction, shunting, inadequate perfusion, and increased blood viscosity are seen in AP (Kinnala et al. 2001, Cuthbertson 2006). Larger vessels may also be affected by AP, but this usually occurs late in the course of the disease (Beattie et al. 2003). Major bleeding caused by acute rupture of vessels or pseudoaneurysm formation is a severe complication of AP, resulting from local severe inflammation and enzymatic insult to major pancreatic or peripancreatic vessels.

Experimental studies

Several experimental studies confirm the involvement of coagulation, anti-coagulation and fibrinolysis, as well as micro-vascular dysfunction, in AP. In rats, AP is induced when polystyrene micro spheres are injected into the splenic artery to prevent perfusion of the splenic part of the pancreas. This supports the role of small vessel ischaemia in the pathogenesis of AP (Redha et al. 1990). In necrotising AP in rats, an increase of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI) activity and a decrease of plasminogen activator have been detected early on during the course of the disease, reflecting a depressed fibrinolysis (Rydzewska et al. 1992).

Studies of AP in dogs have shown increased platelet turnover and altered platelet aggregation (Jacobs et al. 1986, Lukaszyk et al. 1989). In another study on acute necrotising AP in dogs, decreased levels of platelets, plasminogen, and the natural anticoagulant antithrombin III (AT III) were detected, accompanied by raised levels of fibrinogen and increased international normalised ratio (INR) (Feldman et al. 1981), reflecting derangements in both coagulation, anti-coagulation and fibrinolysis.

Early activation of the natural anti-coagulant protein C has been demonstrated in a study in rabbits with necrotising AP (Ottesen et al. 1999).

A deficiency of FVII attenuates the acute inflammatory response in mice (Xu et al. 2006), confirming a role of FVII in the inflammatory reaction.

Clinical studies

Tissue samples from patients operated on due to severe AP, show ultrastructural changes consistent with coagulation, such as accumulation of platelets intra- and extravascularly, fibrin deposition in the connective tissue and micro thrombi in blood vessels (Bockman et al. 1986). Upregulation of urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA), its membrane receptor urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), and its inhibitor plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), were found adjacent to the areas of necrotic tissue (Friess et al. 1998). Based on studies on septic patients, it may be speculated that the activation of fibrinolysis in the microcirculation is accompanied by increased inhibitors of fibrinolysis systemically. This leads to a decrease in fibrinolytic capacity in the circulation, which could result in deposition of fibrin in remote organs such as the lungs (Voss et al. 1990).

Other clinical studies have shown that plasma levels of fibrinogen, von Willebrand factor and the rate of platelet activation may be associated with the severity of AP (Kerekes et al. 2001). In a study in Soweto, an early profound systemic fibrinolysis was suggested as a possible explanation of the aggressive nature of alcoholic acute pancreatitis in this area (Segal et al. 2002).

Factor VII and tissue factor

Factor VII and tissue factor are considered to be important in the cross-talk between inflammation and coagulation (Levi et al. 2006).

Factor VII (FVII) is a vitamin K-dependent trypsin-like serine protease, produced in the liver. Factor VII is the natural ligand of TF (Figure 5) and partner in haemostatic and non-haemostatic functions. The active form of factor VIIa (FVIIa) appears to exist in equilibrium between minor active and dominant zymogen-like inactive conformational states. Approximately 99 percent of FVII circulates as inactive zymogen. The binding of TF to FVIIa (Figure 5) is assumed to shift the equilibrium into the active state (Soejima et al. 2001). Activation of FVII involves protease cleavage of the zymogen to generate a 152-amino acid light chain and a 254-amino acid heavy chain linked by a disulfide bond. The light chain is aligned by the Nterminal 10-carboxyglutamic acid (GLA) domain, which in the presence of calcium enables reversible binding to negatively charged phospholipid membranes, the hydrophobic stack, which is involved in formation of the complex with factor X, and two epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domains. The heavy chain of FVIIa contains the catalytic serine protease domain. FVIIa is an extremely weak serine protease on its own. Although activated, FVIIa does not express its full procoagulant functionality until it is bound to TF (Person 2006). The association of FVII with TF enhances the proteolytic activity of FVIIa by 10⁵. TF-FVIIa binding brings the binding sites for both the substrates (factors X and IX) and the enzyme (FVIIa) responsible for initiating coagulation closer to each other, and induces a conformational change of FVIIa (Ruf 1998).

Levels of FVII increase with age and are higher in hypertriglyceridemia (Rao et al. 1999). FVII has the shortest half-life of all procoagulant factors (3-6 h), whereas the half-life of FVIIa is relatively long (2.5 h) compared to other activated coagulation factors. A strong contribution of the FVII genotype to levels of FVII has been demonstrated, and different FVII genotypes can result in up to several-fold differences in mean FVII levels (Roberts et al. 2001)

Tissue factor (TF) is a 263-amino acid trans-membrane glycoprotein, consisting of a extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic tail (Figure 5) (Daubie et al. 2007). In the vessel wall, TF is found in vascular smooth muscle cells, adventitial fibroblasts, and pericytes (Wilcox et al. 1989). The distribution of TF in different organs varies, and is non-uniform within single organs, with a cell-type specific distribution. Highly vascularised organs, such as lung, brain and placenta demonstrate high levels of TF, whereas skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle show very low levels of TF (Drake et al. 1989, Flössel et al. 1994). In endothelial cells TF is normally not expressed, but can be induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines (Cirillo et al. 2005). After binding to their corresponding cytokine-receptor, intracellular signalling is initiated through the MAP-kinases p38, ERK, and c-jun terminal NH₂-

kinase, with downstream activation of transcription factors such as NF- κ B, AP-1or EGR-1. Also the protein kinase C, as well as the Rho-Kinase pathway, is known to mediate TF induction (Breitenstein et al. 2010).



Figure 5. Simplified molecular model of TF (lighter) and FVII (darker).

TF was initially defined as an initiator of coagulation, triggering the coagulation cascade by formation of the "ternary complex", a complex consisting of TF, FVIIa and zymogen factor X, which then is activated to factor Xa (FXa). The latter cleaves prothrombin into thrombin, which turns fibrinogen into fibrin monomers. During the past two decades TF has been recognised to have many other non-haemostatic roles in inflammation, tumour growth and angiogenesis (Daubie et al. 2007).



Figure 6. The distribution of tissue factor. In the normal setting, TF is not exposed on monocytes, neutrophils and endothelial cells, but this can occur in inflammatory conditions.

The demonstration of circulating, "blood-borne" TF in healthy volunteers, confirms that TF exists not only anchored to cellular membranes (Giesen et al. 1999) (Figure 6). The origin of this circulating form of TF is uncertain. Platelets were initially believed to be the source of blood-borne TF, but this has been contradicted (Butenas et al. 2005, Österud et al. 2008). TF has also been demonstrated in small lipoprotein structures, micro-particles, which may be shed from leukocytes, endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells and platelets (Chou et al. 2004, Mackman 2009). Blood monocytes represent the predominant source of TF in the circulation. Similar to endothelial cells, monocytes constitutively express little TF under basal conditions, but its expression can be enhanced by specific stimuli including C-reactive protein and TNF- α (Breitenstein et al. 2010).

Whether neutrophils express TF upon stimulation or not is still a matter of debate (Österud et al. 2004 and 2010, Nakamura et al. 2004). Although no TF-dependent procoagulant activity has been detected in whole blood stimulated with different agents, it is suggested that neutrophils may be able to express TF under specific inflammatory conditions (Maugeri et al. 2006). The role of microparticle-associated TF is still unclear, but the TF activity in the microparticles seems to be weak, measured by the ability to induce formation of thrombin, (Österud et al. 2008). Yet another form of TF is the circulating, alternatively spliced TF (asTF), lacking transmembrane and intracytoplasmic tail. AsTF has been demonstrated in lungs, placenta and plasma (Bogdanov et al. 2003), and in various cancer cells (Yu et al. 2004). The 165–166 lysine doublet involved in TF–FVIIa interaction has been shown to be intact (Kelley et al. 1995), but the role of asTF is still unclear. One may speculate that asTF binds circulating FVII and thereby acts as an inhibitor of coagulation, by limiting the amount of free FVII able to bind to full-length TF.

Tissue factor-factor VIIa as a signalling receptor

Apart from its pro-coagulant role, the TF-FVIIa complex has a role as a signalling receptor. Tissue factor resembles a group of pro-inflammatory cytokine receptors and is able to activate a variety of pro-inflammatory intracellular signal transduction routes. TF-FVIIa seems to participate in cell signalling by two distinct mechanisms: proteolysis-independent signalling via the cytoplasmic domain of TF, and proteolysis-dependent signalling, which is independent of TF's cytoplasmic tail (Siegbahn 2000 and 2005). In proteolysis-independent signalling, filamin 1 is recruited to TF upon its ligation, and this probably provides an essential intracellular link in transmitting signals from TF. Filamin-1 is an actin-cross-linking phosphoprotein that transduces ligand–receptor binding into actin reorganization, which is required for locomotion of many cell types (Pendurthi et al. 2002). In proteolysis-dependent signalling, the TF/FVIIa complex activates protease-activated receptors (PARs), which couple to G proteins, to impact multiple signalling pathways (Siegbahn 2000, Pendurthi et al. 2002) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Tissue factor-FVIIa signalling by two distinct mechanisms: proteolysis independent and proteolysis dependent (via PAR-2)

The PAR family has at least four members (PAR 1-4) (Coughlin 2000), where TF-FVIIa has been shown to be able to act through PAR-2, while TF-FVIIa-FXa also activates PAR-1. PAR-2 is the only PAR not activated by thrombin. PAR-2 regulates TF cytoplasmic tail phosphorylation and downstream gene expression, cell proliferation and survival, as well as motility and integrin activation (Ahamed et al. 2004, Versteeg 2006). Reciprocally, phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of TF also regulates PAR-2 function (Belting et al. et al. 2004).Through PAR-2, TF–FVIIa may activate three major mitogen-activated proteases (MAP)-kinases, extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and p38, signalling through downstream activation of transcription factors such as NFkB, AP-10r EGR-1, which in turn activate other intracellular pathways (Poulson et al. 1998, Liu et al. 2006).

The important role of TF-dependent signalling in regulation of gene transcription, apoptosis and cytoskeleton reformation has been demonstrated in many studies (Watanabe et al. 1999, Abe et al. 1999, Daubie et al. 2007). The role of TF-FVIIa signalling in inflammatory conditions is confirmed by TF-FVIIa regulated expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-8 in keratinocytes (Wang et al. 2002), and a role in the regulation of both IL-6 and IL-8 expression in monocytes/macrophages (Muth et al. 2005). Confirming the effect of FVIIa on expression of interleukins, recombinant FVIIa administered to healthy humans caused a three- to fourfold increase in plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-8 (De Jonge et al. 2003). A role of TF-FVIIa signalling in regulation of inflammatory genes has been demonstrated in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages, where TF-FVIIa signalling activated genes coding for TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-8 (Riewald et al. 2001).

Recent studies have shown that FVIIa can bind specifically to endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR), a known cellular receptor for protein C and activated protein C, on the endothelium. In the normal setting FVII circulates in plasma in a concentration seven-fold lower than protein C, and they both bind to EPCR with the same affinity. The formation of FVIIa-EPCR complexes neither activates coagulation, nor modulates TF-initiated coagulation. However, it may be speculated that FVIIa interaction with EPCR impairs EPCR-dependent protein C activation and activated protein C-mediated cell signalling by competitive inhibition (Rao et al. 2008). This may be of certain interest in inflammatory conditions with decreased circulating levels of protein C

The primary mechanism of regulation of TF activity is through a process of selfassociation and dissociation termed encryption and decryption (Eilertsen et al. 2004). The encrypted form of TF is inactive, while the decrypted form is the active procoagulant configuration. Decryption of TF in response to specific stimuli, such as tissue damage, cytokines or calcium influx, may involve disulfide-bond formation. Recently it has been suggested that coagulant TF and signalling TF may be two different structural entities (Ahamed et al. 2006).

The increased cellular expression of TF in inflammatory conditions, at least concerning mononuclear cells and probably vascular endothelial cells, is elicited by pro-inflammatory cytokines. The expression of TF seems mostly dependent on IL-6, as demonstrated in studies showing that inhibition of IL-6 completely abrogates TF-dependent thrombin generation in experimental endotoxemia, whereas specific inhibition of other pro-inflammatory cytokines had less or no effect (Van der Poll et al. 1994, Levi et al. 1997). In turn, TF modulates the inflammatory response by affecting the production and the release of inflammatory cytokines, express TF, which leads to systemic activation of coagulation (Almdahl et al. 1987, Kälsch et al. 2007). Even in experimental low-dose endotoxemia in healthy subjects, a 125-fold increase in TF mRNA levels in circulating monocytes can be detected (Franco et al. 2000).

Fibrinogen

Fibrinogen is a plasma acute phase protein produced in the liver, with a half life of 3-5 days. It plays a key role in platelet aggregation, the final step in the coagulation cascade, through the formation of fibrin. Fibrinogen is a major determinant of plasma viscosity and erythrocyte aggregation, and is both expressed in the normal setting and inducible during an acute phase reaction. Normal or low levels of fibrinogen in inflammatory disease are associated with fibrinogen consumption (Ganrot 1997).

Studies in animal models and in human disease have demonstrated that extra-vascular fibrinogen that is deposited in tissues is not merely a marker, but a mediator of

inflammatory diseases (Reinhart et al. 2003, Adams et al. 2007). The ability of fibrinogen to participate in the inflammatory response seems to be dependent on its interaction with specific leukocyte integrins (Ugarova et al. 2001, Flick et al. 2004).

Modulating inflammation and coagulation

Multiple substances with different modes of action have been studied with the aim to modulate the inflammatory response in AP. The investigated modes of intervention include blocking inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Bhatia et al. 2002), inhibition of adhesion molecules (Lundberg et al. 2001), antioxidants (Mohseni Salehi Monfared et al. 2009), induction and inhibition of nitric oxide (Ozturk et al. 2008, Ang et al. 2009), various protease inhibitors (Chen et al. 2007), enteral nutrition (Eckerwall et al. 2006) and immunonutrients (Petrov et al. 2009). Despite the fact that experimental, and for some substances also clinical results have been demonstrated, no specific therapy has yet been able to revolutionise the treatment of patients with AP.

Anti-inflammatory effects of anti-coagulation in acute pancreatitis

Several studies have demonstrated anti-inflammatory effects of inhibition of TF-FVIIa (Taylor et al. 1991, Levi et al. 1994, Creasey et al. 1993, Taylor et al. 1998, Welty-Wolf et al. 2001, Carraway et al. 2003, Olanders et al. 2005), but no other studies, except from the experimental studies included in this thesis, have been published on inhibition of TF-FVIIa in AP.

Concerning anti-inflammatory effects of other anti-coagulants in AP, heparin has been demonstrated to provide a protective effect in mild experimental AP, probably by reduction of leukocyte-endothelium interaction and normalisation of pancreatic microcirculation (Hackert et al. 2004). Low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) improves microcirculation and survival in severe AP in rats (Qiu et al. 2007), and in a recently published study on treatment with LMWH in patients with severe AP, complication rate, mortality and mean hospital stay were reduced in the LMWHtreated group (Lu et al. 2009). Based on results from smaller clinical studies, heparin has been suggested to be of certain value in hypertriglyceridemic AP, where one of the effects of heparin is to decrease triglycerides by stimulating lipoprotein lipase activity (Tsuang et al. 2009). Both heparin and LMWH have in clinical studies failed to show any value in preventing acute post-ERCP pancreatitis (Rabenstein et al. 2004, Barkay et al. 2008).

Focusing on therapeutic effects of natural anti-coagulants in AP, anti-thrombin III (AT III) ameliorated AP in rat models with mild AP, as well as severe AP (Yamaguchi et al. 1997, Hagiwara et al. 2009, Bleeker et al. 1992). AT III inhibits various

proteases in the coagulation cascade, such as thrombin, factors Xa, IXa and XIIa, but also inhibits some non-coagulation proteases such as trypsin (Levi et al. 2008).

Tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) has been demonstrated to be raised in patients with AP and to be related to severity (Yasuda et al. 2009). In experimental models of sepsis TFPI has shown anti-inflammatory properties. No studies on TFPI in AP have been published.

Activated protein C (APC) has gained a lot of attention in the treatment of severe sepsis, as recombinant APC was demonstrated to improve survival in a mega-trial (Bernard et al. 2001). In three studies on severe AP in rats APC decreased inflammation and improved survival (Alsfasser et al. 2006), improved histology, superinfection rates and inflammatory markers (Yamanel et al. 2005), and ameliorated AP through modulation of MAP-kinase pathways (Chen et al. 2007). In yet another study early APC treatment did not, however, result in any significant improvement in oxidative and inflammatory parameters nor in renal function (Akay et al. 2008).

When considering treatment related to the crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation in AP, it should be mentioned that much effort has been made to investigate the therapeutic value of a platelet activating factor (PAF) antagonist. PAF is an important proinflammatory mediator acting through specific receptors on various cells and its concentration is raised in a number of diseases, including AP. The ubiquity of PAF receptors on the surface of and within normal cells reflects the physiological importance of PAF. The PAF inhibitor Lexipafant® showed promising results in the experimental setting and in a clinical study (Kingsnorth et al. 1995), but in a large multi-centre study lexipafant failed to show any reduction of organ failure or mortality in severe AP (Johnson et al. 2001).

FVIIai

FVIIai is a competitive inhibitor of the TF-FVIIa complex. FVIIai is synthesised by incorporation of chloromethyl ketone D-Phe-L-Phe-L-Arg into the active site of FVIIa. FVIIai possesses at least the same high affinity for TF as FVII (Jang et al. 1995, Sorensen et al. 1997). The resultant inactive TF-FVIIai-complex does not activate the coagulation cascade, or other intracellular activities associated with TF-FVIIa (Kjalke et al. 1998). The half life of FVIIai is similar to that of FVIIa, i.e. 3-6 hours (Erhardtsen et al. 2001).

Powerful anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai have been demonstrated in a rat model of ischemia-reperfusion (Olanders et al. 2005), as well as in models of *E.coli* sepsis in baboons (Welty-Wolf et al. 2001, Carraway et al. 2003). With these results in mind, it was disappointing that a recently published randomised controlled trial of FVIIai in

mechanically ventilated patients with acute lung injury or acute respiratory distress syndrome, showed no beneficial effect on morbidity or overall outcome. The cohort of patients receiving the highest dose of FVIIai had increased mortality rates compared with placebo-treated patients, and there was a trend of increased risk of serious bleeding with increasing doses (Vincent et al. 2009).

N-acetylcysteine

Pre-treatment with N-acetylcysteine (NAC) in experimental severe AP reduces levels of myeloperoxidase (MPO) in remote organs and prevent the raise in plasma levels of IL-6 (Shi et al. 2005). Treatment with NAC has been shown to increase levels of glutathione. NAC acts as an antioxidant, both directly as a glutathione substitute and indirectly as a precursor for glutathione. Glutathione is an endogenous antioxidant and has a ubiquitous role in many of the body's defences. It also causes vasodilatation by increasing cyclic guanosine monophosphate levels, inhibits platelet aggregation, acts as a sulphydryl donor to regenerate endothelial-derived relaxing factor, and reduces IL-8 and TNF- α production (Atkinson 2002).

NAC has been proposed as a treatment for several illnesses, such as hepatic failure, acute respiratory distress syndrome, sepsis, myocardial infarction and as a prophylaxis of radiographic contrast nephropathy (Atkinson 2002). There is strong evidence to support the use of NAC for the treatment of paracetamol overdose, while the use of NAC in other conditions is less well documented. One problem with NAC in clinical use is that it is safe and well tolerated when administered orally, but has documented risks with intravenous administration (Dodd et al. 2008).

Haemorrhagic events in acute pancreatitis

When considering anti-coagulant therapies in AP one must have the risk of major bleeding in mind, which is a rare but potentially lethal complication of severe AP (Andersson et al. 2010). Coagulopathy may be associated with severe AP, making the patients more prone to bleeding. In a study on patients undergoing surgery because of severe necrotising AP, non-survivors had significantly lower levels of activity of the natural anticoagulants protein C and AT III, and higher concentrations of D-dimer and PAI-1 than survivors. However, no differences in INR, APTT, fibrinogen or plasminogen were seen (Radenkovic et al. 2004). These results indicate an impaired anti-coagulant function and an increased fibrinolysis, while the coagulation seems to be intact.

Apart from bleeding associated with an imbalance in the coagulation system, haemorrhage in AP can result from local severe inflammation and an enzymatic insult to major pancreatic or peripancreatic vessels, leading to acute rupture or

pseudoaneurysm formation. Other causes of bleeding include erosion of blood vessels in walled-off necrosis, splenic vein thrombosis with left-sided portal hypertension causing oesophagogastric varices, and pancreatic surgery (Flati et al. 2003, Di Paulo et al. 2006, Ammori et al. 1998, Mortelé et al. 2001, Tsiotos et al. 1996, Kriwanek et al. 1999). Bleeding from ruptured vessels may occur into the gastrointestinal tract, the peritoneal cavity or the retroperitoneum. Gastrointestinal haemorrhage may also be attributed to coexisting lesions such as peptic ulceration, stress ulcers, alcoholic gastritis and Mallory-Weiss tears.

Severe bleeding in AP seems to be a rare event, though previous reports lack figures on the exact incidence (Flati et al. 2003, Di Paulo et al. 2006, Ammori et al. 1998).

Coagulation parameters as predictors of severity

Early assessment of severity is a prerequisite for optimal management of patients with AP. A correct prediction of severity is also important for eligibility for entry into clinical trials. Recent clinical studies have suggested a potential role of coagulation variables, such as TF, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI), AT III and D-dimer, as predictors of severity in AP. Today, the most widely used laboratory parameter to predict severity of AP and development of complications is C-reactive protein (CRP). Several studies have indicated IL-6 as a superior predictor of severity early in the course of the disease, and IL-8 has also been suggested to be of value. A recent meta-analysis on the ability of IL-6 and IL-8 to predict severe AP concludes that these cytokines perform at an acceptable level in predicting severe AP (Aoun et al. 2010).

Data concerning the role of coagulation variables as predictors of severe AP are still sparse. The results from one study on patients with AP, showed that levels of TF were related to the development of pancreatic necrosis in alcoholic severe AP, but no association with overall severity was demonstrated (Sawa et al. 2006).

In another study on 91 patients with AP, D-dimer, pro-thrombin time and fibrinogen were different in the group of AP patients developing organ failure compared to the patients who did not develop organ failure, both at admission and 24 hours later. D-dimer was the best predictive marker of organ failure (Radenkovic et al. 2009).

In one study on 139 patients with AP, the levels of antithrombin III (AT-III), fibrin/fibrinogen degradation products, platelet count, D-dimer, and thrombin-AT-III complex at admission were associated with severity and prognosis of AP. AT-III, fibrin/fibrinogen degradation products, platelet count, D-dimer, and thrombin-AT-III complex at admission showed larger areas under the ROC curves compared to CRP. AT-III was the best predictor of fatal outcome (Maeda et al. 2006).

In a study on 44 patients with AP, levels of TFPI measured at admission were related to severity (Yasuda et al. 2009).
The overall aim was to investigate the crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation in acute pancreatitis, with special reference to the role of coagulation factor VII and tissue factor, and to study severe haemorrhagic complications in association with acute pancreatitis.

Specific aims for the individual studies were:

- To investigate the anti-inflammatory effects of active site inactivated factor VII (FVIIai) in experimental severe acute pancreatitis (paper I-III).
- To examine activation of nuclear factor kappa B in severe acute pancreatitis and the effect of FVIIai on nuclear factor kappa B activation (paper II).
- To record incidence, management and outcome of major haemorrhagic complications in severe acute pancreatitis (paper IV).
- To explore plasma levels of tissue factor and factor VII in the early phase of predicted severe acute pancreatitis (paper V).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The different methods used are presented in detail in the individual papers, and are only briefly outlined in figure 8. General aspects on material and methods are discussed below.



Figure 8. Methods used in the studies. Numbers in parentheses refer to the paper where the individual methods are used.

Aspects on experimental severe acute pancreatitis (paper I-III)

Models of acute pancreatitis established in experimental animals are of four different types: In the duct obstruction models outflow from the pancreatic duct is mechanically inhibited by a surgically placed ligature (Senninger et al. 1984). In the duct injection models bile or bile salts are injected into the pancreatic duct (Aho et al. 1980). In secretagogue-induced models, rodents are injected with the cholecystokinin analogue caerulein in doses exceeding the rate of maximal secretion of pancreatic digestive enzymes. This results in inhibited secretion by yet not fully clarified mechanisms (Lampel et al. 1977, Saluja et al. 2007). In the diet-induced models mice are given a choline-deficient diet supplemented with ethionine. This results in a defect secretion of pancreatic enzymes in response to secretagogue stimulation (Lombardi et al. 1975).

39

The rat model used in the experimental work of this thesis is of the duct injectiontype, and it involves retrograde injection of bile salts into the pancreatic duct (Figure 9). It is a simple, effective and reproducible model for creating a severe, rapidly evolving and lethal variety of acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis, appropriate for studies of systemic effects (Aho et al. 1980). Infusion of 0.2 ml/kg of 3%, 4.5% or 5% taurodeoxycholate (TDC) solution induces acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis with 72-h mortality rates of 24, 71 and 100 percent, respectively (Aho et al. 1980, 1983) (Figure 9). The Sham-operated rats were subjected to laparotomy and identification of the common bile duct, but neither clamping nor any infusion was administered.



Figure 9. Model of induction of acute pancreatitis, showing infusion of ink into the rat pancreas. (Photograph reproduced with permission from Jakob Axelsson)

Based on previous pilot studies performed by our group, six hours was chosen as the time point to study. At six hours there will be no mortality, but the rats will be severely ill, with a fulminant form of AP with a SIRS reaction and inflammatory reactions seen in lungs and liver. The gut and renal dysfunction will be more pronounced later in the course of the disease, and mortality will start at about nine hours and then increase until 100 percent after 72 hours (Aho et al. 1980). In the NF- κ B study, an early time point, one hour after induction of AP, was added, to detect early changes in NF- κ B-activity.

With the TDC-infusion technique the injection pressure with which the solution is applied to cause severe AP must be kept low (Arendt 1993), as any solution, such as normal saline, can produce AP when injected with high pressure into the pancreatic

duct (Condon et al. 1974). Even if the amount of TDC injected and the pressure are the same, the degree of filling of the pancreas may vary between study animals because of inter-individual anatomical differences in the duct system, and this will affect the degree of AP. Another important aspect on this model is that there is limited evidence to support the role of bile reflux in human AP (Elliott et al. 1957). Hence this model may be criticised for not being clinically relevant.

Different animal models of AP has been reviewed elsewhere (Hue Su et al. 2006), and one can conclude that no existing animal model is perfect as an instrument of studying human AP. However, it is important to realise that without animal models there would not be much knowledge on mechanisms involved in early cellular events, pathogenesis and pathophysiology of AP.

Aspects on ELISA (paper I-III, V)

ELISA is an easy method to use and is considered to be very specific, as antibodies directed against two or more distinct epitopes are required. Nevertheless, several limitations for the interpretation of ELISA data exist. The immunoreactive proteins detected by ELISA may not correlate with the levels of bioactive protein, as an ELISA may utilise antibodies that cannot discriminate between the precursor (inactive) and mature (bioactive) form of a protein. Moreover, an ELISA may detect partially-degraded proteins which have retained their immunoreactive properties (i.e., at least two recognisable epitopes) but may have lost their bioactivity.

As an example, the ELISA used to measure plasma TF recognise both active and inactive forms of TF, and the results do not adequately reflect thrombogenic or proinflammatory potential, or micro particle release (Aras et al. 2004). Another uncertainty with this analysis can be low specificity, as it has been proposed that the antibody used in similar ELISA systems is not entirely specific for TF antigen and may cross-react with other proteins (Butenas et al. 2005, Mälarstig et al. 2005).

Aspects on the retrospective chart study (paper IV)

In retrospective chart reviews, there will always be information that cannot be retrieved. There is no possibility to add clinical parameters that have not been registered, or laboratory analyses that have not been performed. Incomplete documentation increases the risk of missing information, and this is important to consider when interpreting the results of a retrospective study. Considering the clinical challenge of managing patients with severe bleeding it seems plausible to expect that it will be noted in the charts that the patients bleed, at least in the form of intensive care records, multiple haemoglobin analyses, ordering of blood units, angiography results or registration of operations. As the charts of the patients with AP have been thoroughly investigated concerning such remarks, the risk of omitting patients with AP and severe bleeding seem low in the present study.

Aspects on the prospective clinical study (paper V)

The study was mainly designed to compare the efficacy and safety of early, nasogastric enteral nutrition with total parenteral nutrition in patients with predicted severe AP (Eckerwall et al. 2006), while the focus in the present paper is on tissue factor and factor VII early in the course of severe AP. Data on IL-6 and CRP from this study have already been published (Eckerwall et al. 2006), but not previously analysed with respect to ability to predict severe AP, as done in the present study.

RESULTS

Effects of pre-treatment and treatment with FVIIai in acute pancreatitis, and investigation of NF- κB activation (paper I-III)

In paper I (Andersson et al. 2007) the results from the model of TDC-induced AP in the rat, showed that the levels of MPO in lungs and ileum, and plasma levels of IL-6 and MIP-2 were higher in the rats with AP, compared to the Sham-operated animals, measured six hours after the induction of AP.

A profound anti-inflammatory effect of active site inactivated factor VII (FVIIai) pretreatment was demonstrated in the rats with AP, as measured by lower levels of MPO, reflecting a reduced number of activated leukocytes in remote organs (lungs, ileum) (Figure 10) and reduced plasma levels of IL-6 and MIP-2. The anti-inflammatory effect seemed to be at least as pronounced as the effect of N-acetylcysteine (NAC).



Figure 10. Pulmonary MPO concentration 6 hrs after induction of AP (Paper I).

In paper II (Axelsson et al. 2008), NF- κ B activation in the TDC-induced AP model was investigated. NF- κ B was demonstrated to be up-regulated in lungs, liver and ileum. In the liver NF- κ B activation was most prominent at the early time point studied (one hour after induction of AP), while NF- κ B activation was pronounced both at one and six hours in the lungs. In the ileum NF- κ B activation was detected at the later time point (six hours after induction of AP).

Pre-treatment with FVIIai effectively reduced activation of NF- κ B in lungs (Figure 11), liver and ileum. When NAC was given in combination with FVIIai, the antiinflammatory effect of FVIIai on NF- κ B activation was reduced.



Figure 11. NF-KB activation in the lungs. Effects both at 1h and 6 hrs (Paper II).

In paper III (Andersson et al. manuscript 2010), FVIIai was administered after the induction of AP, to further investigate the effects of FVIIai in the TDC-induced model of severe AP. The anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai, when administered 30 min and 90 min after induction of AP, were less evident, as compared to the effects seen with pre-treatment in paper I (Andersson et al. 2007).

When FVIIai was administered 30 minutes after induction of AP, MPO content in the lung was decreased, and there was a tendency towards lower levels of IL-6 and MIP-2 (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Concentrations of IL-6 (pg/ml) and MIP-2 (pg/ml) in plasma 6 hrs after induction of AP. FVIIai treatment administered after 30 min (Paper III).

When FVIIai was given 90 minutes after induction of AP, no significant effect of treatment was detected measured by the levels of MPO, but a tendency towards lower IL-6 (p=0.055) and MIP-2 (p=0.067) levels in plasma were seen in the FVIIai treated animals.

The ileal MPO levels were very low in all of the groups. No statistically significant increase of MPO activity was demonstrated in the ileum in the non-treated AP group, compared to the sham group or to the control group.

It was shown that APTT, and levels of D-dimer and fibrinogen were unaffected, both by acute pancreatitis, and by FVIIai treatment. PT was raised in the rats treated with FVIIai. These findings indicate that the rats with AP in this model do not suffer from DIC or other severe coagulation abnormalities, at least not at six hours after the induction of AP.

Incidence, management and outcome of major haemorrhagic complications of severe acute pancreatitis (paper IV)

In this retrospective chart study 1356 patients diagnosed with AP were included. Fourteen patients (1.0 per cent) developed major haemorrhage. Angiography was able to establish a diagnosis in four of six patients and embolisation was successful in one patient. Surgery was performed in two patients. The site of bleeding, management and outcome are summarised in Table 2. Post-operative major bleeding was often preceded by sentinel bleeding; a minor bleeding occurring before the major bleeding. In our study sentinel bleeding was detected in three of four patients with postoperative major bleeding. Overall mortality was high, 5 of 14 patients. Intraabdominal haemorrhage presenting after >7 days was associated with very high mortality, 4 of 5 patients. Fatal outcome was markedly higher in patients with severe AP and haemorrhagic complications, compared to those with severe AP without bleeding.

Table 2. Overview of 14 patients with major haemorrhage in association with acute pancreatitis. GI = gastrointestinal; TAE = transcatheter arterial embolisation; SAP = severe acute pancreatitis; MAP = mild acute pancreatitis; SB = sentinel bleeding (Paper IV).

| Site of bleeding | No of | Onset of | SAP/ | Treatment | SB | Fatal |
|-------------------------------|----------|-------------------|-----------------|---|-----|--------------|
| | patients | bleeding (day) | MAP | | | out- come |
| Splenic artery | 1 | 48 | SAP | TAE | Yes | 1 |
| Gastroduodenal artery | 1 | 9 | SAP | TAE | Yes | 0 |
| Superior mesenteric artery | 1 | 14 | SAP | Surgical ligation | Yes | 1 |
| Gastroepiploic artery | 1 | 27 | SAP | TAE | No | 1 |
| Bleeding ulcer | 2 | 3;7 | MAP | Endoscopic sclerotherapy 1, conservative 1 | No | 0 |
| Diffuse peripancreatic | 3 | 1; 1; 9 | 2 SAP, 1 MAP | Conservative 1, Pancreatic. resection 1, Operative drainage 1 | No | 1 |
| Upper GI | 2 | 1; 1 | 1 SAP, 1 MAP | Conservative 2 | No | 1 |
| Lower GI | 2 | 1;5 | 2 SAP | Conservative 2 | No | 0 |
| Unknown | 1 | 1 | SAP | Conservative | No | 0 |

Tissue factor in the early phase of acute pancreatitis and its potential role as a predictor of severe acute pancreatitis (paper V)

In this prospective clinical study 49 patients with predicted severe AP were included. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Table 3. Blood samples were collected at inclusion in the study, after 12 hours, after 1 day and after 3 days.

| Inclusion Criteria | Exclusion Criteria |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| > 18 years | Acute pancreatitis due to surgery |
| Abdominal pain | Trauma |
| Amylase> 3 times upper normal limit | Cancer |
| Onset of abdominal pain within 48 hr | Inflammatory bowel disease |
| APACHE II score > 8 and/or | Stoma |
| CRP > 150 and/or | Short bowel |
| Peripancreatic fluid collection on CT | Chronic pancreatitis |

Table 3. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

According to the Atlanta classification 22 patients (45%) fulfilled the criteria of severe AP and 27 patients (55%) were classified as having mild AP. The severe AP and the mild AP groups were comparable with respect to gender, duration from onset of pain to inclusion and APACHE II score. Median age was lower in the severe AP group (Table 4).

Table 4. Patient characteristics and laboratory variables at time of inclusion. Values are expressed as median and inter-quartile range (Paper V).

| | MAP | SAP | p |
|------------------------------|----------------|----------------|-------|
| Age (years) | 76 (63-85) | 63 (56-77) | 0.042 |
| Sex (male : female) | 14:13 | 10:12 | 0.66 |
| APACHE II | 9 (8-11) | 9 (7-13) | 0.86 |
| Pain onset to inclusion (hr) | 34 (21-43) | 25 (22-29) | 0.16 |
| Amylase | 8.2 (2.7-13.7) | 9.8 (4.3-15.3) | 0.690 |
| IL-6 (pg/ml) | 100 (55-210) | 275 (158-315) | 0.001 |
| CRP (mg/ml) | 106 (69-167) | 173 (104-209) | 0. |
| Tissue factor (pg/ml) | 35 (23-50) | 49 (36-101) | 0.035 |
| Fibrinogen (g/l) | 4.8 (4.4-6.2) | 4.0 (3.8-7.2) | 0.047 |
| FVII (ng/ml) | 155(46-294) | 136 (88-296) | 0.989 |
| | | | |

TF was significantly higher in the group of patients with severe AP compared to the mild AP group, both at admission and after 12 hours (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Tissue factor in the early phase of acute pancreatitis, 1-3 days after admission (Paper V).

Fibrinogen and FVII were only analysed at admission, and fibrinogen was slightly lower in the severe AP group compared to the mild AP group, whereas no differences were seen in levels of FVII. IL-6 peaked at 12 hours and was higher in the severe AP group at all of the studied time points. CRP peaked at day 3, and was higher in the severe AP group at 1 and 3 days.

Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves and area under the curve-analysis were used to investigate the ability to predict severe AP by TF-levels. Different cut-off points for TF were selected based on good sensitivity and specificity, high positive predicted values and low negative predicted values. At inclusion in the study the ability of TF to predict severe AP was inferior to IL-6, but better than CRP (Figure 14). At 12 hours, TF was inferior to IL-6, and at 3 days both IL-6 and CRP were superior to TF (Figure 15).

48



Figure 14. ROC curve of TF, IL-6 and CRP at inclusion in the study (time point 0). AUC TF 0.677, p=0.043, AUC IL-6 0.775, p=0.001, AUC CRP 0.653, p=0.071. (paper V).



Figure 15. ROC curve of TF, IL-6 and CRP after three days. AUC TF 0.556, p=0.559, AUC IL-6 0.833, p<0.001, AUC CRP 0.892, p<0.001 (paper V).

DISCUSSION

The effect and mechanisms of action of FVIIai in acute pancreatitis

It may be speculated that the anti-inflammatory effects demonstrated with FVIIai pre-treatment, are induced only by less formation of micro thrombi and resultant reduced micro-vascular dysfunction. However, the absence of coagulopathy in this model of TDC-induced AP, as reflected by unaltered INR, APTT, D-dimer and fibrinogen six hours after induction of AP, supports the hypothesis that it is unlikely that FVIIai exerts its anti-inflammatory effect only by affecting coagulation. Results from other studies on anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai, confirm this hypothesis, as inhibitors of down-stream coagulation proteases, such as factor X, will result only in inhibition of coagulation, and not in anti-inflammatory effects (Olanders et al. 2005).

The activation of proteases, which occurs early in AP, allows the activation of protease activated receptors (PARs), considered to be important players in the crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation. Of special interest is PAR-2, activated by TF/FVIIa. The role of PAR-2 in AP may, however, be complex. Stimulation of PAR-2 in the pancreas seems to exert a protective effect by increasing electrolyte and fluid secretion. One can speculate that PAR-2 activation has evolved in the pancreas as a protective mechanism designed to dampen the injurious effects of intra-pancreatic trypsinogen activation (Sharma et al. 2005). Systemic PAR-2 activation may cause hemodynamic instability, activate inflammatory cells and increase nociception, and experimental studies indicate that PAR-2 stimulation may actually worsen severe AP (Laukkarinen et al. 2008).

With this in mind, an explanation of the anti-inflammatory effect of FVIIai seen in our studies may be the reduced systemic stimulation of PAR-2, by the competitive inhibition of the TF/FVIIa PAR-2 stimulation. Although the inhibition of downstream coagulation by FVIIai can reduce fibrin deposition and micro-thromboses, the decreased NF- κ B-activity demonstrated with FVIIai pre-treatment supports the hypothesis that the anti-inflammatory effect is mediated not only by inhibition of the down-stream coagulation cascade, but also by changes in intra-cellular signalling. To make the picture even more complex, recent findings suggest novel anti-inflammatory roles for NF- κ B, which means that a systemic reduced activation of NF- κ B in inflammatory conditions may be two-edged (Lawrence et al. 2010).

The profound anti-inflammatory effects of pre-treatment with FVIIai, as measured by MPO levels in remote organs, plasma levels of IL-6 and MIP-2, are much less evident when FVIIai is administered 30 min and 90 min, respectively, after the induction of AP. Evidently, FVIIai is being less effective when administered at a more pronounced

stage of the disease. The lack of evident effect in the fulminant stage of the disease may be a reflection of different pathways of the inflammatory response in the early and during the later phase. One explanation may be that the anti-inflammatory effect of FVIIai is mediated predominantly by inhibiting activation of monocytes. This would explain why FVIIai will be efficient only when given as early treatment, when the monocytes are considered to be important actors in the development of the inflammatory response. Another explanation may be the expression of TF and FVIIai. It is known from the clinical situation that plasma concentrations of TF are increased in patients suffering from severe AP (Sawa et al. 2006). This has also been shown experimentally. In rabbits subjected to chenodeoxycholic acid-induced AP, both TF and FVII coagulant activity peak at two hours after infusion (Ottesen et al. 1999). This could explain the loss of anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai at later stages, by increased amounts of endogenous TF and FVII competing with the inhibitor, FVIIai. The reduction of effectiveness with FVIIai treatment given later in the course of the disease may also reflect the fact that protease activity is an important feature in the early course of AP, whereas other inflammatory mechanisms may be more important later on.

The model of TDC-induced AP results in a fast destruction of the pancreatic tissue, and this model is not suitable when studying local effects in the pancreas. If inhibition of PAR-2 is the mechanism of action of the anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai in the TDC-induced AP-model, different effects may be seen in models of mild AP, where inhibited PAR-2 stimulation may actually worsen the local inflammation in the pancreas (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Effects of PAR-2 stimulation in acute pancreatitis.

When presenting the anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai in our experimental studies, it must be mentioned that the administration of FVIIai has been studied more extensively in sepsis. In a baboon model of sepsis-induced acute lung injury FVIIai

52

significantly limited the acute lung injury and organ damage. FVIIai improved gas exchange and lung compliance, prevented lung oedema and pulmonary hypertension, and preserved renal function. Treatment also attenuated sepsis-induced fibrinogen depletion and decreased systemic proinflammatory cytokine responses (Welty-Wolf et al. 2001, Carraway et al. 2003). Encouraged by these promising experimental results, a recent clinical trial on FVIIai in subjects with acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome was performed. FVIIai therapy had no statistically significant treatment effect on coagulation parameters or outcome overall. However, there was a trend towards increased risk of serious bleeding with increasing dose and the highest dose used ($4 \times 400 \mu g/kg$) was associated with increased mortality, which resulted in early termination of the trial (Vincent et al. 2009).

The ideal treatment would have a high anti-inflammatory effect, while the risk of bleeding should be minimal. In a previous study in our laboratory, FVIIai administered intraperitoneally in rats showed a dose-dependent increase in INR. In the TDC-model the anti-inflammatory effect of FVIIai, as measured by MPO and IL-6, was not stronger when doses of FVIIai were increased above 10 mg/kg (data not published), whereas INR and the haemorrhagic diathesis continued to increase.

The clinical relevance of results from studies in rats

Some issues on the clinical relevance of the TDC-induced AP model have already been addressed in the section on methods. Injection of TDC will result in destruction of the cells in and adjacent to the pancreatic ducts. This fast dissolvement of the pancreatic tissue is not seen in clinical acute pancreatitis, and the systemic effects seen in this model may therefore not be similar to the effects seen in the clinical situation. The problem with uncertain clinical relevance is true for all animal models of AP, and this must be taken into consideration when interpreting the results from animal studies. With studies in cell cultures the situation is not the same as when the cells are in their natural compartment, and if circulating inflammatory cells are retrieved from patients with AP and studied in the lab, they are not in their natural environment.

When studying anti-coagulants in animal models it is important to be aware of the inter-species variation in coagulation. Differences in the concentrations of clotting factors will affect variables used to estimate coagulation, such as INR and APTT, and differences in inflammatory variables must also be taken into consideration. Of certain interest to the experimental studies presented in this thesis is that normal PT-values in rats are slightly higher, but in about the same range as in humans (Siller-Matula et al. 2008). It is of importance to note that rats have a much higher basal level of circulating FVII, and this is also true for FV and FXII, whereas levels of FIX, FX and FXI are lower (Karges et al. 1994). A 100-fold higher dose of thrombin was required in rats as compared to humans, to cause a similar decrease in clotting time (Siller-Matula et al. 2008), and a 20-fold higher dose of a potent FXa inhibitor (DX-

9065a) was required to inhibit thrombus formation (Hara et al. 1995). The pronounced species differences between humans and rats must be kept in mind, when considering the clinical relevance of the anti-inflammatory effect of FVIIai. It is possible that the effect on coagulation and probably also the inflammatory effects of FVIIai in rats may be different from the effects that would be seen in clinical trials of FVIIai.

Despite these discouraging remarks, one must accept that animal models are valuable tools to study mechanisms in the very complex scenario of AP, and though there may be differences, still knowledge with profound clinical impact may be gained from these models.

The relevance of results from trials on sepsis

Results on three different anti-coagulants in mega-trials in sepsis have been presented in the last decade. APC (Bernard et al. 2001) showed a reduction in 28-day mortality, whereas TFPI (Abraham et al. 2003) and antithrombin III (Warren et al. 2001) did not. An intensive debate on the results from these studies has been on-going since the results were presented (Iba et al. 2004, Afshari et al. 2008, Martí-Carvajal et al. 2008), and this matter goes beyond the scope of this thesis. However, it is important to mention that although sepsis and AP have many features in common, such as the systemic inflammatory response, the release of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and the development of multiple organ dysfunction, some differences exist (Frossard et al. 2003).When considering extrapolation of results from trials in sepsis these differences are worth consideration.

When comparing the patients suffering from sepsis and AP it is often much easier to determine the onset of disease in AP, where abdominal pain is reported by the patient. This may make it possible to treat the patients in an earlier therapeutic window.

The diagnostic criteria of AP are more specific than in sepsis, possibly making this group of patients more homogenous. The clinical diagnosis of AP is based on the combination of acute upper abdominal pain and elevated plasma levels of pancreas-specific amylase or lipase (Steinberg et al. 1994), while sepsis is defined as a systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) plus evidence of infection. SIRS is defined by the fulfilment of two or more of the following criteria: Temperature >38°C or <36°C, heart rate <90 beats/min, respiratory rate <20/min or hyperventilation with PaCO2 <32 mmHg, white blood cell count >12 x 10°/l or <4 x 10°/l (Bone et al. 1992).

Another aspect is that the frequency of underlying disease, such as pulmonary disease and diabetes, may be higher in patients with sepsis. With these differences in mind, it may be worth considering trying therapeutic substances in AP, even though they fail to show any benefit in trials on sepsis.

Haemorrhagic complications and the use of anti-coagulation in acute pancreatitis

The conclusion from the retrospective study (paper IV) is that major haemorrhagic complications in AP are rare, and tend to occur late in the course of the disease. The risk of major bleeding early in the course of the disease seems to be low. Anti-coagulation, such as FVIIai, used early in the early phase of AP, may by inhibitory effects on inflammation, actually decrease the risk of later major bleeding, caused by excessive inflammation and local complications.

Even if a potential treatment with FVIIai in AP is far from clinical application, anticoagulation in AP is theoretically appealing, both considering the pure anti-coagulant effect potentially reducing micro-thromboses and improving micro-circulation, and considering the potential PAR-2 effect reducing hemodynamic instability and systemic inflammation.

When it comes to the clinical use of anti-coagulants in AP, the use of heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) have attracted interest in AP, as several experimental and smaller clinical studies have suggested that they may prevent post-ERCP pancreatitis The mechanisms of the protective effects of heparin and LMWH seem to be the reduction of leukocyte-endothelium interaction and the normalisation of pancreatic microcirculation.

Two randomised clinical trials on prophylactic, subcutaneous administration of LMWH or unfractionated heparin respectively, did not show any significant effect on acute post-ERCP pancreatitis (Rabenstein et al. 2004, Barkay et al. 2008). Remarkable results were recently shown by early administration of LMWH in severe AP in a Chinese multi-centre study on 265 patients, where the mortality was much lower in the LMWH-treated group (Lu et al. 2009). Though this study may be criticised on some points, as on the fact that mortality in the control group was unusually high, (>30 per cent), and the rate of patients in the control group subjected to surgery because of pancreatitis was substantial (>11 per cent), the results still remain interesting.

Another aspect on potential benefits of pure anti-coagulant effects in AP are the relatively common CT findings of thromboses in the splenic vein, superior mesenteric artery and portal vein, and splenic infarction in association with AP (Mortelé et al. 2001 and 2004), where anti-coagulation may exert a protective effect.

The role of tissue factor in acute pancreatitis

TF has attracted a lot of interest in studies of interactions between inflammation and coagulation, especially in cardiovascular research. Genetic variations in the TF gene have been associated with clinical outcome in acute coronary syndrome. CRP, the

clinically most frequent used laboratory parameter in evaluation of severity of AP has been shown to stimulate monocytes to produce TF, and TF is considered to be the most important procoagulant substance in rupture of atherosclerotic plaques (Mälarstig et al. 2005).

Plasma TF levels increase in patients with sepsis and acute coronary syndrome, as well as in patients with AP (Sawa et al. 2006). In the study by Sawa, TF levels were related to the development of pancreatic necrosis in alcoholic severe AP, but in contrast with our results no correlation with over-all severity of AP was demonstrated. In our study, the inclusion criteria excluded patients with the mildest form of AP, and only patients with predicted severe AP were included. Yet we were able to demonstrate significantly higher levels of circulating TF in the group that turned out to develop severe AP, according to the Atlanta classification. TF was shown to be elevated early in the course of the disease, implying that if inhibition of TF should be administered it should be started at admission or prophylactic, as in the case of ERCP.

The problematic definition of severe acute pancreatitis

One major problem in the search for predictive markers in AP is to define inclusion criteria for the studies, selecting patients with high risk of developing severe AP. In the TF-study only 45 percent (22/49) of the patients with predicted severe AP included in the study were later classified as actually developing severe AP.

The definition of severe AP may also be problematic. The Atlanta criteria, based on development of local complications and organ failure (Bradley 1993) are widely used. It is has been argued that resolution of organ failure within 48 hours suggests a good prognosis, while persistent organ failure is a marker for subsequent death or local complications. Patients presenting with organ failure that resolves within 48 hours, should therefore perhaps not be considered as having severe AP (Johnson et al. 2004).

Studies on the clinical value of parameters of haemostasis in predicting pancreatitisassociated complications are still scarce. Recent studies have demonstrated D-dimer (Radenković et al. 2009) and TFPI (Yasuda et al. 2009) to be correlated to severity of AP. In our study TF is higher in the group of patients with severe AP early in the course of the disease, but our results indicate that the value of TF as an early predictor of severe AP is limited, as IL-6 is superior as a predictive marker at all time points studied (0, 0.5, 1 and 3 days after inclusion in the study). At inclusion in the study, TF seems, however, to be superior to CRP as a predictor of severity.

CONCLUSIONS

- MPO tissue content and plasma IL-6 and MIP-2 are elevated in severe experimental AP. Pre-treatment with FVIIai effectively reduces the systemic inflammation.
- Active NF-κB is elevated in remote organs in severe experimental AP. Pretreatment with FVIIai reduces NF-κB activity in an organ and time dependent manner.
- Treatment with FVIIai, i.e. administration of FVIIai after the induction of severe experimental AP, shows some anti-inflammatory effects when administered early in the course of the disease.
- Severe haemorrhagic complications in patients with AP are rare, but clinically challenging and associated with high mortality. Post-operative sentinel bleeding may precede a major bleeding and should be considered a warning sign.
- Plasma levels of tissue factor in the early course of predicted severe AP, are significantly higher in patients who later turn out to actually develop severe AP. The capability of tissue factor to predict severe AP in the early course of the disease is inferior to IL-6, but superior to CRP at admission.

FUTURE ASPECTS

The anti-inflammatory effects of FVIIai in AP, especially effects on the pancreas itself, would be interesting to evaluate in other models of AP, such as the caerulein-induced model of mild AP in rats. This would elucidate the effect of FVIIai in the pancreas and systemic effects in a model of mild AP. Assuming the role of PAR-2 signalling in FVIIai-action, and remembering the suggested organ-specific effects of PAR-2 stimulation in AP, it is possible that FVIIai would actually worsen the injury in the pancreas itself.

To confirm the suggested PAR-2 effect of FVIIai, PAR-2 knockout mice could be of help. The model of TDC-induced AP in mice could be used to evaluate the effect of FVIIai in PAR-2 -/- and wild-type mice, where we hypothesise that the anti-inflammatory effect of FVIIai would be less evident in the PAR -2 knockouts.

The crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation has gained a lot of interest in cardiovascular research. TF is known to be expressed in atherosclerotic plaques, and high levels of circulating TF as well as genetic differences in the TF-gene have been suggested to be linked to an increased risk of myocardial infarction and the risk of ischemic stroke at young age (Sayed et al. 2009 Wannamethee et al. 2009). This may reflect a certain biology in these patients, which could possibly render them more susceptible to other conditions where coagulation and inflammation interact. Our findings of high levels of TF in the early course of severe AP generate questions on whether similar genetic differences exist in patients with severe AP, predisposing them for development of a severe form of the disease. A study of some other genetic haemostatic polymorphisms, including the factor V Leyden mutation, was recently published. No over-representation of such gene polymorphisms were detected in the studied group of patients with severe AP (Tukiainen et al. 2009), but variations in the TF gene have not yet been investigated in AP.

The value of treatment of all AP patients with anti-coagulants early in the course of the disease is controversial. The potential benefits with improved micro-vascular function reducing the pancreatic injury, inhibiting thromboses in the splenic vein and other surrounding vessels, and potential anti-inflammatory properties of anti-coagulants in AP need future investigation. The disappointing results with FVIIai in acute lung injury (Vincent et al. 2009), and TFPI (Abraham et al. 2003) and antithrombin (Warren et al. 2001) in sepsis trials are discouraging, but they do not exclude potential benefits of these substances in AP, and further clinical studies on the effects of anti-coagulation in AP are warranted.

The applicability of coagulation parameters in predicting organ failure and/or severe AP have been suggested in recent studies on D-dimer, antithrombin III, TF and TFPI (Maeda et al. 2006, Yasuda et al. 2009, Radenković et al. 2009). Even though none of these parameters alone seems likely to be of paramount value in predicting severity, these results imply a role of activation of coagulation in the early phase of AP, and the potential role of coagulation parameters as predictors of severity needs further studies.

The complexity of AP makes it plausible to assume that patients with AP present a large spectrum of pathophysiologic events, where one single type of therapy is unlikely to be of benefit for all patients with AP during the entire course of the disease. To be able to reliably predict severity and tailor treatment, a thorough mapping of each individual patient is needed, where coagulation parameters may be one important part.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Our lessons come from the journey, not from the destination. I am deeply grateful to my supervisor professor Roland Andersson, who has been a most encouraging, kind and persistent companion along this winding road of pancreatic research. Your ability to inspire and to infuse fresh courage into dispirited researchers is absolutely outstanding. You have offered support in the development of my scientific, clinical, laboratory, writing and presentation skills with never ending enthusiasm. Thank you!

Jakob Axelsson, thank you for co-authorship and collaboration in the experimental acute pancreatitis and tissue factor projects, and a lot of help in the lab, accompanied by weird music.

Daniel Ansari, thank you for co-authorship and excellent collaboration in the study on severe haemorrhagic complications of acute pancreatitis. I look forward to future projects.

Gunilla Eckerwall, thank you for co-authorship and tremendous work with the patients and the collection of the plasma samples, used in the paper on tissue factor.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my friends, collaborators and fellow colleagues in the laboratory and the research group along the years. Thank you Monica Radnell, Anna Börjesson, Anna-Kajsa Harding, Zhengwu Sun, Xiangdong Wang, Xia Zhao, Marwan Dib, Martin Annborn, Knut Olanders, Birgit Persson, Lazlo Nehez, Katarzyna Zaid, Hamid Akbarshahi, Ursula Aho, Changbin Shi, Per Leveau, Karolin Isaksson, Bobby Tingstedt, Bodil Andersson and Morgan Nordén.

A special thank you to Åke Lasson for excellent ideas and co-authorship, and to Ulla Gülich for laboratory skills, in the NF-KB project.

Thank you Monica Keidser for your help in processing manuscripts and applications along the years.

Thank you Lars-Christian Pedersen and Torben Elm, Novo Nordisk Scandinavia A/S, for providing FVIIai for the experimental studies and co-authorship in paper I.

Thank you fellow colleagues, mentors and staff at the departments of surgery in Lund/Landskrona, Ystad and Kristianstad for inspiration, support, encouragement and making everyday work fun! A special thanks to my "roomies", the smart and beautiful surgeonesses Kristin Huld Haraldsdóttir and Pauline Djerf for friendship

and never-ending interesting discussions on topics ranging from interior design to medical statistics. I truly miss you!

Thank you fellow colleagues and staff at the department of surgery in Norrköping and the acute pancreatitis research group in Linköping for making me feel at home.

Thank you Ann Cherian for improving the language in this book and politely telling me what parts of the text nobody but the author herself is likely to understand, and thank you Henrik Blomqvist for help with the pictures.

Thank you all colleagues in Pancreas 2000 for fuelling my interest in pancreatology.

Thank you the Erik and Angelica Sparre foundation, the Skåne County Council Research and Development Foundation and the Department of Surgery in Lund for financial support of the research presented in this thesis.

Thank you dearest friends for spicing up my life with not so scientific matters. Thank you Karolina Helczynska for friendship and good advice on how to become a Ph D, and for my "chrześniaczka" Karin.

Without my "crew" back home there would be no thesis. Thank you my dear family for love, encouragement and a lot of help in everyday life - my mother Birgit, my sister Marta, and my father Torsten, who would have been the proudest today, and my parents in law, Mallan and Uffe,.

Finally I would like to thank my two everyday heroes: Pontus, my best friend and partner in life and love, and our little superstar Hugo, to whom I dedicate this book.

- Abe K, Shoji M, Chen J, Bierhaus A, Danave I, Micko C, Casper K, Dillehay DL, Nawroth PP, Rickles FR. Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor production and angiogenesis by the cytoplasmic tail of tissue factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:8663-8668.
- Abraham E, Reinhart K, Opal S, Demeyer I, Doig C, Rodriguez AL, Beale R, Svoboda P, Laterre PF, Simon S, Light B, Spapen H, Stone J, Seibert A, Peckelsen C, De Deyne C, Postier R, Pettilä V, Sprung CL, Artigas A, Percell SR, Shu V, Zwingelstein C, Tobias J, Poole L, Stolzenbach JC, Creasey AA. OPTIMIST Trial Study Group: Efficacy and safety of tifacogin (recombinant tissue factor pathway inhibitor) in severe sepsis: a randomised controlled trial. JAMA 2003;290:238-247.
- Adams RA, Schachtrup C, Davalos D, Tsigelny I, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen signal transduction as a mediator and therapeutic target in inflammation: lessons from multiple sclerosis. Curr Med Chem. 2007;14:2925-2936.
- Adler G, Hupp T, Kern HF. Course and spontaneous regression of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol 1979;382:31-47.
- Afshari A, Wetterslev J, Brok J, Møller AM. Antithrombin III for critically ill patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008:CD005370.
- Ahamed J, Ruf W. Protease-activated receptor 2-dependent phosphorylation of the tissue factor cytoplasmic domain. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:23038-23044.
- Ahamed J, Versteeg HH, Kerver M, Chen VM, Mueller BM, Hogg PJ, Ruf W. Disulfide isomerization switches tissue factor from coagulation to cell signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:13932-13937.
- Aho HJ, Koskensalo SM, Nevalainen TJ. Experimental pancreatitis in the rat. Sodium taurocholateinduced acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1980;15:411–416.
- Aho HJ, Nevalainen TJ, Aho AJ. Experimental pancreatitis in the rat. Development of pancreatic necrosis, ischemia and edema after intraductal sodium taurocholate injection. Eur Surg Res. 1983;15:28–36.
- Akay S, Ozutemiz O, Yenisey C, Genc Simsek N, Yuce G, Batur Y. Use of activated protein C has no avail in the early phase of acute pancreatitis. HPB (Oxford) 2008;10:459-463.
- Almdahl SM, Osterud B. Experimental gram-negative septicemia: thromboplastin generation in mononuclear phagocytes from different anatomical sites. Thromb Res. 1987;47:37-46.
- Alsfasser G, Warshaw AL, Thayer SP, Antoniu B, Laposata M, Lewandrowski KB, Fernández-del Castillo C. Decreased inflammation and improved survival with recombinant human activated protein C treatment in experimental acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg. 2006;141:670-676.
- Ammori BJ, Madan M, Alexander DJ. Haemorrhagic complications of pancreatitis: presentation, diagnosis and management. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1998;80:316-325

- Andersson E, Ansari D, Andersson R. Major haemorrhagic complications in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg, in press, Epub 10 Jun 2010.
- Andersson E, Axelsson J, Pedersen LC, Elm T, Andersson R. Treatment with anti-factor VII in acute pancreatitis in rats – blocking both coagulation and inflammation? Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 2007;42:765-770.
- Andersson E, Axelsson J, Andersson R. Treatment with active site inhibited factor VIIa effects on inflammation in experimental acute pancreatitis. Annals of Gastroenterology 2010;23:180-186.
- Andersson E, Axelsson J, Eckerwall G, Ansari D, Andersson R. Tissue factor in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Submitted.
- Andersson R, Andersson B, Haraldsen P, Drewsen G, Eckerwall G. Incidence, management and recurrence rate of acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004;39:891-894.
- Ang AD, Adhikari S, Ng SW, Bhatia M. Expression of nitric oxide synthase isoforms and nitric oxide production in acute pancreatitis and associated lung injury. Pancreatology. 2009;9:150-159.
- Aoun E, Chen J, Reighard D, Gleeson FC, Whitcomb DC, Papachristou GI. Diagnostic Accuracy of Interleukin-6 and Interleukin-8 in Predicting Severe Acute Pancreatitis: A Meta-Analysis. Pancreatology. 2009;9:777-785.
- Appelros S, Borgström A. Incidence, aaetiology and mortality rate of acute pancreatitis over 10 years in a defined urban population in Sweden. Br J Surgery 1999;86:465-470.
- Appelros S, Lindgren S, Borgström A. Short and long term outcome of severe acute pancreatitis. Eur J Surg 2001;167:281-286.
- Aras O, Shet A, Bach RR, Hysjulien JL, Slungaard A, Hebbel RP, Escolar G, Jilma B, Key NS. Induction of microparticle- and cell-associated intravascular tissue factor in human endotoxemia. Blood. 2004; 103: 4545–4553.
- Arendt T. Bile-induced acute pancreatitis in cats. Roles of bile, bacteria, and pancreatic duct pressure. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:39–44.
- Atkinson MC. The use of N-acetylcysteine in intensive care. Crit Care Resusc. 2002;4:21-7.
- Axelsson J, Norrman G, Malmström A, Weström B, Andersson R. Initiation of acute pacnreatitis by heparan sulphate in the rat. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2008;43:480-489.
- Axelsson J, Andersson E, Andersson R, Lasson Å. NFkB activation and anticoagulant treatment during acute pancreatitis in rat. Journal of Organ Dysfunction 2008;4:85-92
- Barkay O, Niv E, Santo E, Bruck R, Hallak A, Konikoff FM. Low-dose heparin for the prevention of post-ERCP pancreatitis: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Surg Endosc. 2008;22:1971-1976.
- Barnes PJ, Karin M. Nuclear factor-kappaB: A pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:1066-1071.

- Beattie GC, Hardman JG, Redhead D, Siriwardena AK. Evidence for a central role for selective mesenteric angiography in the management of the major vascular complications of pancreatitis. Am J Surg. 2003;185:96-102.
- Belting M, Dorrell MI, Sandgren S, Aguilar E, Ahamed J, Dorfleutner A, Carmeliet P, Mueller BM, Friedlander M, Ruf W. Regulation of angiogenesis by tissue factor cytoplasmic domain signaling. Nat Med 2004; 10: 502–509.
- Bernard DR, Vincent JL, Laterre PF, LaRosa SP, Dhainaut JF, Lopez-Rodrigues A, Steingrub JS, Garber GE, Helterbrand JD, Ely EW, Fisher CJ Jr. For the recombinant human activated protein C worldwide evaluation in severe sepsis (PROWESS) study group: efficacy and safety of recombinant human activated protein C for severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 2001;344:699-709.
- Bhatia M, Brady M, Shokuhi S, Christmas S, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J. Inflammatory mediators in acute pancreatitis. J Pathol. 2000;190:117-125.
- Bhatia M, Brady M, Zagorski J, Christmas SE, Campbell F, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J. Treatment with neutralising antibody against cytokine induced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC) protects rats against acute pancreatitis associated lung injury. Gut. 2000;47:838-844.
- Bhatia M, Neoptolemos JP, and Slavin J. Inflammatory mediators as therapeutic targets in acute pancreatitis. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2001;2: 496–501.
- Bhatia M. Novel therapeutic targets for acute pancreatitis and associated multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy. 2002;1:343-351.
- Bhatia M, Wong FL, Cao Y, Lau HY, Huang J, Puneet P, Chevali L. Pathophysiology of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2005;5:132-144.
- Bhatnagar A, Wig JD, Majumdar S. Expression of activation, adhesion molecules and intracellular cytokines in acute pancreatitis. Immunol Lett. 2001;77:133-141.
- Bleeker WK, Agterberg J, Rigter G, Hack CE, Gool JV. Protective effect of antithrombin III in acute experimental pancreatitis in rats. Dig Dis Sci. 1992;37:280-285.
- Bockman DE, Büchler M, Beger HG. Ultrastructure of human acute pancreatitis. Int J Pancreatol. 1986;1:141-153.
- Boermeester MA, van Leeuwen PA, Coyle SM, Wolbink GJ, Hack CE, Lowry SF. Interleukin-1 blockade attenuates mediator release and dysregulation of the hemostatic mechanism during human sepsis. Arch Surg. 1995;130:739-748.
- Boermeester MA. Re: Topical haemostatic agents (Br J Surg 2008; 95: 1197-1225). Br J Surg. 2009;96:445; author reply 445.
- Bogdanov VY, Balasubramanian V, Hathcock J, Vele O, Lieb M, Nemerson Y. Alternatively spliced human tissue factor: a circulating, soluble, thrombogenic protein. Nat Med. 2003;9:458-462.

- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, Schein RM, Sibbald WJ. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest. 1992;101:1644-1655.
- Bradley EL 3rd. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the international symposium on acute pancreatitis, Atlanta, GA, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993;128:586-590.
- Bradley EL 3rd, Dexter ND. Management of severe acute pancreatitis: a surgical odyssey. Ann Surg. 2010;251:6-17.
- Braganza JM. Mast cell: pivotal player in lethal acute pancreatitis. QJM. 2000;93:469-476.
- Breitenstein A, Tanner FC, Lüscher TF. Tissue factor and cardiovascular disease: Quo Vadis? Circ J. 2010;74:3-12.
- Brown A, Baillargeon JD, Hughes MD, Banks PA .Can fluid resuscitation prevent pancreatic necrosis in severe acute pancreatitis? Pancreatology. 2002;2:104-107.
- Butenas S, Bouchard BA, Brummel-Ziedins KE, Parhami-Seren B, Mann KG. Tissue factor activity in whole blood. Blood. 2005;105:2764-2770.
- Camerer E, Cornelissen I, Kataoka H, Duong DN, Zheng YW, Coughlin SR. Roles of proteaseactivated receptors in a mouse model of endotoxemia. Blood 2006; 107: 3912–3921.
- Camerota AJ, Creasey AA, Patla V, Larkin VA, Fink MP. Delayed treatment with recombinant human tissue factor pathway inhibitor improves survival in rabbits with gram-negative peritonitis. J Infect Dis. 1998;177:668-676.
- Carraway MS, Welty-Wolf KE, Miller DL, Ortel TL, Idell S, Ghio AJ, Petersen LC, Piantadosi CA. Blockade of tissue factor: treatment for organ injury in established sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:1200-1209.
- Cermak J, Key NS, Bach RR, Balla J, Jacob HS, Vercellotti GM. C-reactive protein induces human peripheral blood monocytes to synthesize tissue factor. Blood 1993;82:513-520.
- Chen CC, Wang SS, Lee FY. Action of antiproteases on the inflammatory response in acute pancreatitis. JOP. 2007;8:488-494.
- Chen P, Zhang Y, Qiao M, Yuan Y. Activated protein C, an anticoagulant polypeptide, ameliorates severe acute pancreatitis via regulation of mirogen activated protein kinases. J Gastroenterol 2007;42:887-898.
- Chou J, Mackman N, Merrill-Skoloff G, Pedersen B, Furie BC, Furie B. Hematopoietic cell-derived microparticle tissue factor contributes to fibrin formation during thrombus propagation. Blood. 2004;104:3190-3197.

- Cirillo P, Golino P, Calabrò P, Calì G, Ragni M, De Rosa S, Cimmino G, Pacileo M, De Palma R, Forte L, Gargiulo A, Corigliano FG, Angri V, Spagnuolo R, Nitsch L, Chiariello M. C-reactive protein induces tissue factor expression and promotes smooth muscle and endothelial cell proliferation. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;68:47-55.
- Closa D, Roselló-Catafau J, Fernández-Cruz L, Gelpí E. Prostaglandin D2, F2 alpha, E2 and E1 in early phase of experimental acute necrohaemorrhagic pancreatitis in rats. Pancreas 1994;9:73–77.
- Colman RW, Schmaier AH. Contact system: a vascular biology modulator with anticoagulant, profibrinolytic, antiadhesive, and proinflammatory attributes. Blood 1997;90:3819–3843
- Compañy L, Sáez J, Martínez J, Aparicio JR, Laveda R, Griñó P, Pérez-Mateo M. Factors predicting mortality in severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2003;3:144-148.
- Condon RE, Woods JH, Poulin TL, Wagner WG, Pissiotis CA. Experimental pancreatitis treated with glucagon or lactated Ringer solution. Arch Surg. 1974;109:154–158.
- Coughlin S.R, Thrombin signalling and protease-activated receptors. Nature 2000;407:258-264.
- Creasey AA, Chang AC, Feigen L, Wün TC, Taylor FB Jr, Hinshaw LB. Tissue factor pathway inhibitor reduces mortality from Escherichia coli septic chock. J Clin Invest 1993;91:2850-2860.
- Cuthbertson CM, Christophi C. Disturbances of the microcirculation in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg. 2006;93:518-530.
- Dabrowski A, Osada J, Dabrowska MI, Wereszczynska-Siemiatkowska U. Monocyte subsets and natural killer cells in acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology. 2008;8:126-134.
- Daubie V, Pochet R, Houard S, Philippart P. Tissue factor: a mini-review. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2007;1:161-169.
- De Gaetano M, Quacquaruccio G, Pezzini A, Latella MC, Di Castelnuovo A, Del Zotto E, Padovani A, Lichy C, Grond-Ginsbach C, Gattone M, Giannuzzi P, Novak N, Dorn J, Trevisan M, Donati MB, Iacoviello L. Tissue factor gene polymorphisms and haplotypes and the risk of ischemic vascular events: four studies and a meta-analysis. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7:1465-1471.
- de Jonge E, Friederich PW, Vlasuk GP, Rote WE, Vroom MB, Levi M, van der Poll T. Activation of coagulation by administration of recombinant factor VIIa elicits interleukin 6 (IL-6) and IL-8 release in healthy human subjects. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2003;10:495-497.
- Demols A, Le Moine O, Desalle F, Quertinmont E, Van Laethem JL, Devière J. CD4(+)T cells play an important role in acute experimental pancreatitis in mice. Gastroenterology. 2000;118:582-590.
- Dib M, Zhao X, Wang XD, Andersson R. Role of mast cells in the development of pancreatitis-induced multiple organ dysfunction. Br J Surg. 2002;89:172-178.
- Di Paulo M, Marradi I. Haemorrhagic complication of acute necrotising pancreatitis presenting with sudden death. J of Forensic Medicine. 2006;13:271-273.

- Dodd S, Dean O, Copolov DL, Malhi GS, Berk M. N-acetylcysteine for antioxidant therapy: pharmacology and clinical utility. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8:1955-1962.
- Drake TA, Morrissey JH, Edgington TS. Selective cellular expression of tissue factor in human tissues. Implications for disorders of hemostasis and thrombosis. Am J Pathol. 1989;134:1087-1097.
- Eckerwall GE, Axelsson JB, Andersson RG. Early nasogastric feeding in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: A clinical, randomised study. Ann Surg. 2006;244:959-965.
- Eilertsen KE, Osterud B. Tissue factor: (patho)physiology and cellular biology. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2004; 15: 521–538.
- Elliott DW, , Williams RD, , Zollinger RM.. Alterations in the pancreatic resistance to bile in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis. Ann Surg 1957;146:669.–681; discussion 681–682.
- Erhardtsen E, Nilsson P, Johannessen M, Thomsen MF.: Pharmacokinetics and safety of FFR-rFVIIa after single doses in healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 41:880–885.
- Feldman BF, Attix EA, Strombeck DR, O'Neill S. Biochemical and coagulation changes in a canine model of acute necrotising pancreatitis. Am J Vet Res. 1981;42:805-809.
- Fitz RH. Acute pancreatitis: a consideration of pancreatic haemorrhage, haemorrhagic, suppurative and gangrenous pancreatitis, and of disseminated fat necrosis. Boston Med Surg J. 1889;120:181-188.
- Flati G, Andren-Sandberg A, La Pinta M, Porowska B, Carboni M. Potentially fatal bleeding in acute pancreatitis: pathophysiology, prevention and treatment. Pancreas. 2003;26:8-14.
- Flick MJ, Du X, Degen JL: Fibrin(ogen)-alpha M beta 2 interactions regulate leukocyte function and innate immunity in vivo. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2004; 229:1105-1110.
- Flössel C, Luther T, Müller M, Albrecht S, Kasper M. Immunohistochemical detection of tissue factor (TF) on paraffin sections of routinely fixed human tissue. Histochemistry. 1994;101:449-453.
- Franco RF, de Jonge E, Dekkers PE, Timmerman JJ, Spek CA, van Deventer SJ, van Deursen P, van Kerkhoff L, van Gemen B, ten Cate H, van der Poll T, Reitsma PH. The in vivo kinetics of tissue factor messenger RNA expression during human endotoxemia: relationship with activation of coagulation. Blood. 2000 15;96:554-559.
- Friess H, Duarte R, Kleeff J, Fukuda A, Tang WH, Graber H, Schilling M, Zimmermann A, Korc M, Büchler MW. The plasminogen activator/plasmin system is up-regulated after acute necrotising pancreatitis in human beings. Surgery. 1998;124:79-86.
- Frossard JL, Morel P, Pastor CM. Why clinical trials might succeed in acute pancreatitis when they failed in septic shock. JOP. 2003;4:11-416.
- Ganrot PO. Laurells klinisk kemi i praktisk medicin, 7th ed, Studentlitteratur, Stenflo/Hillarp, Lund, 1997:280.

- Gerard C, Frossard JL, Bhatia M, Saluja A, Gerard NP, Lu B, Steer M. Targeted disruption of the betachemokine receptor CCR1 protects against pancreatitis-associated lung injury. J Clin Invest. 1997;100:2022-2027.
- Giesen PL, Rauch U, Bohrmann B, Kling D, Roqué M, Fallon JT, Badimon JJ, Himber J, Riederer MA, Nemerson Y. Blood-borne tissue factor: another view of thrombosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:2311-2315.
- Gislason H, Horn A, Hoem A, Andrén-Sandberg Å, Imsland AK, Soreide O, Viste A. Acute pancreatitis in Bergen, Norway. A study on incidence, aetiology and severity. Scand J Surg 2004;93:29-33.
- Gloor B, Müller CA, Worni M, Martignoni ME, Uhl W, Büchler MW. Late mortality in patients with severe pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001;88:975-979.
- Gorelick F. Pancreatic protease-activated receptors: friend and foe. Gut 2007;56:901-902.
- Granger J, Remick D. Acute pancreatitis: models, markers, and mediators. Shock. 2005;24 Suppl 1:45-51.
- Gukovsky I, Gukovskaya AS, Blinman TA, Zaninovic V, Pandol SJ. Early NF-kappaB activation is associated with hormone-induced pancreatitis. Am J Physiol. 1998;275:1402-1414.
- Hackert T, Werner J, Gebhard MM, Klar E. Effects of heparin in experimental models of acute pancreatitis and post-ERCP pancreatitis. Surgery. 2004;135:131-138.
- Hagiwara S, Iwasaka H, Shingu C, Matsumoto S, Uchida T, Noguchi T. Antithrombin III prevents caerulein-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. Pancreas. 2009;38:746-751.
- Hara T, Yokoyama A, Morishima Y, Kunitada S. Species differences in anticoagulant and anti-Xa activity of DX-9065a, a highly selective factor Xa inhibitor. Thromb Res. 1995;80:99-104.
- Hue Su K, Cuthbertson C, Christophi C. Review of experimental animal models of acute pancreatitis. HPB (Oxford). 2006;8:264-286.
- Iba T, Kidokoro A. What can we learn from the three megatrials using anticoagulants in severe sepsis? Shock 2004;22:508-512.
- Inoue S, Nakao A, Kishimoto W, Murakami H, Itoh K, Itoh T, Harada A, Nonami T, Takagi H. Antineutrophil antibody attenuates the severity of acute lung injury in rats with experimental acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg. 1995;130:93-98.
- Jacobs RM, Murtaugh RJ, Fertel RH. Platelet function in experimentally induced pancreatitis in the dog. Thromb Haemost. 1986;55:197-200.
- Jang Y, Guzman LA, Lincoff AM, Gottsauner-Wolf M, Forudi F, Hart CE, Courtman DW, Ezban M, Ellis SG, Topol EJ. Influence of blockade at specific levels of the coagulation cascade on restenosis in a rabbit atherosclerotic femoral artery injury model. Circulation. 1995;92:3041-3050.
- Johnson CD, Kingsnorth AN, Imrie CW, McMahon MJ, Neoptolemos JP, McKay C, Toh SK, Skaife P, Leeder PC, Wilson P, Larvin M, Curtis LD. Double blind, randomised, placebo controlled study

of a platelet activating factor antagonist, lexipafant, in the treatment and prevention of organ failure in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Gut. 2001;48:62-69.

- Johnson CD, Abu-Hilal M. Persistent organ failure during the first week as a marker of fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis. Gut. 2004;53:1340-1344.
- Karges HE, Funk KA, Ronneberger H. Activity of coagulation and fibrinolysis parameters in animals. Arzneimittelforschung. 1994;44:793-797.
- Kelley RF, Costas KE, O'Connell MP, Lazarus RA. Analysis of the factor VIIa binding site on human tissue factor: effects of tissue factor mutations on the kinetics and thermodynamics of binding. Biochemistry. 1995;34:10383-10392.
- Kerekes L, Arkossy P, Altorjay I, Huszka M, Kappelmayer J, Tóth P, Szentkereszty Z, Sápy P. Evaluation of hemostatic changes and blood antioxidant capacity in acute and chronic pancreatitis. Hepatogastroenterology. 2001;48:1746-1749.
- Kingsnorth AN, Galloway SW, Formela LJ. Randomised, double-blind phase II trial of Lexipafant, a platelet-activating factor antagonist, in human acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg. 1995;82:1414-1420.
- Kinnala PJ, Kuttila KT, Gronroos JM, Havia TV, Nevalainen TJ, Niinikoski JH. Pancreatic tissue perfusion in experimental acute pancreatitis. Eur J Surg 2001; 167: 689-694.
- Kjalke M, Monroe DM, Hoffman M, Oliver JA, Ezban M, Hedner U, Roberts HR. The effects of activated factor VII in a cell-based model for tissue factor-initiated coagulation. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 1998; 9 (Suppl 1):S21–S25.
- Kriwanek S, Gschwantler M, Beckerhinn P, Armbruster C, Roha R. Complications after surgery for necrotising pancreatitis: risk factors and prognosis. Eur J Surg 1999;165:952–957.
- Kälsch T, Elmas E, Nguyen XD, Suvajac N, Klüter H, Borggrefe M, Dempfle CE.Endotoxin-induced effects on platelets and monocytes in an in vivo model of inflammation. Basic Res Cardiol. 2007;102:460-466.
- Lampel M, Kern HF. Acute interstitial pancreatitis in the rat induced by excessive doses of a pancreatic secretagogue. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol. 1977;373:97-117.
- Laukkarinen JM, Weiss ER, van Acker GJ, Steer ML, Perides G. Protease-activated receptor-2 exerts contrasting model-specific effects on acute experimental pancreatitis. J Biol Chem. 2008;283:20703-20712.
- Lawrence T, Fong C. The resolution of inflammation: anti-inflammatory roles for NF-kappaB. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2010;42:519-523.
- Levi M, ten Cate H, Bauer KA, van der Poll T, Edgington TS, Büller HR, van Deventer SJ, Hack CE, ten Cate JW, Rosenberg RD. Inhibition of endotoxin-induced activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis by pentoxifylline or by a monoclonal anti-tissue factor antibody in chimpanzees. J Clin Invest. 1994;93:114-120.

- Levi M, van der Poll T, ten Cate H, van Deventer SJ. The cytokine-mediated imbalance between coagulant and anticoagulant mechanisms in sepsis and endotoxaemia. Eur J Clin Invest. 1997;27:3-9.
- Levi M, Keller TT, van Gorp E, ten Cate H. Infection and inflammation and the coagulation system. Cardiovasc Res. 2003;60:26-39.
- Levi M, van der Poll T, ten Cate H. Tissue factor in infection and severe inflammation. Semin Thromb Hemost 2006; 32: 33–39.
- Levi M, van der Poll T. The Role of Natural Anticoagulants in the Pathogenesis and Management of Systemic Activation of Coagulation and Inflammation in Critically Ill Patients. Semin Thromb Hemost 2008; 34:459-468
- Levi M, Toh CH, Thachil J, Watson HG. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of disseminated intravascular coagulation. British Committee for Standards in Haematology. Br J Haematol. 2009;145:24-33.
- Liu Y, Mueller BM. Protease-activated receptor-2 regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression in MDA-MB-231 cells via MAPK pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 344: 1263– 1270.
- Lombardi B, Estes LW, Longnecker DS. Acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis (massive necrosis) with fat necrosis induced in mice by DL-ethionine fed with a choline-deficient diet. Am J Pathol. 1975;79:465-480.
- Lu XS, Qiu F, Li JQ, Fan QQ, Zhou RG, Ai YH, Zhang KC, Li YX. Low molecular weight heparin in the treatment of severe acute pancreatitis: a multiple centre prospective clinical study. Asian J Surg. 2009;32:89-94.
- Lukaszyk A, Bodzenta-Lukaszyk A, Gabryelewicz A, Bielawiec M. Does acute experimental pancreatitis affect blood platelet function? Thromb Res. 1989;53:319-325.
- Lundberg AH, Fukatsu K, Gaber L, Callicutt S, Kotb M, Wilcox H, Kudsk K, Gaber AO. Blocking pulmonary ICAM-1 expression ameliorates lung injury in established diet-induced pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2001;233:213-220.
- Mackman N. The many faces of tissue factor. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7 (suppl):136-139.
- Mackman N. The role of tissue factor and factor VIIa in hemostasis. Anesth Analg. 2009;108:1447-1452.
- Maeda K, Hirota M, Ichihara A, Ohmuraya M, Hashimoto D, Sugita H, Takamori H, Kanemitsu K, Baba H. Applicability of disseminated intravascular coagulation parameters in the assessment of the severity of acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2006;32:87-92.
- Makhija R, Kingsnorth AN. Cytokine storm in acute pancreatitis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2002;9:401-410.
- Mannaioni PF, Masini E. The release of histamine by free radicals. Free Radical Biol Med 1988; 5:177–197.
- Martí-Carvajal A, Salanti G, Cardona-Zorilla AF. Human recombinant activated protein C for severe sepsis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008:CD004388.
- Martínez J, Johnson CD, Sánchez-Payá J, de Madaria E, Robles-Díaz G, Pérez-Mateo M. Obesity is a definitive risk factor of severity and mortality in acute pancreatitis: an updated meta-analysis. Pancreatology. 2006;6:206-209.
- Maugeri N, Brambilla M, Camera M, Carbone A, Tremoli E, Donati MB, De Gaetano G, Cerletti C. Human polymorphonuclear leukocytes produce and express functional tissue factor upon stimulation. J Thromb Haemost 2006;4:1323–1330.
- Mayer J, Rau B, Gansauge F, Beger HG. Inflammatory mediators in human acute pancreatitis: clinical and pathophysiological implications. Gut. 2000;47:546-552.
- Mohseni Salehi Monfared SS, Vahidi H, Abdolghaffari AH, Nikfar S, Abdollahi M. Antioxidant therapy in the management of acute, chronic and post-ERCP pancreatitis: a systematic review. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15:4481-4490.
- Moore FA, Moore EE. Evolving concepts in the pathogenesis of post injury multiple organ failure. Surg Clin North Am 1995;75:257-277.
- Mortelé KJ, Mergo PJ, Taylor HM, Ernst MD, Ros PR. Splenic and perisplenic involvement in acute pancreatitis: determination of prevalence and morphologic helical CT features. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2001;25:50-54.
- Mortelé KJ, Mergo PJ, Taylor HM, Wiesner W, Cantisani V, Ernst MD, Kalantari BN, Ros PR. Peripancreatic vascular abnormalities complicating acute pancreatitis: contrast-enhanced helical CT findings. Eur J Radiol. 2004;52:67-72.
- Muth H, Kreis I, Zimmermann R, Tillmanns H, Hölschermann H. Differential gene expression in activated monocyte-derived macrophages following binding of factor VIIa to tissue factor. Thromb Haemost. 2005;94:1028-1034.
- Mälarstig A, Tenno T, Johnston N, Lagerqvist B, Axelsson T, Syvänen AC, Wallentin L, Siegbahn A. Genetic variations in the tissue factor gene are associated with clinical outcome in acute coronary syndrome and expression levels in human monocytes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:2667-2672.
- Nakagawa H, Komorita N, Shibata F, Ikesue A, Konishi K, Fujioka M, Kato H. Identification of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants (CINC), rat GRO/CINC-2 alpha and CINC-2 beta, produced by granulation tissue in culture: purification, complete amino acid sequences and characterization. Biochem J. 1994;301:545-550.
- Nakamura S, Imamura T, Okamoto K. Tissue factor in neutrophils: Yes. J Thromb Haemost 2004; 2: 214–217.

- Norman JG, Fink GW, Denham W, Yang J, Carter G, Sexton C, Faulkner J, Gower WR, Franz MG. Tissue-specific cytokine production during experimental acute pancreatitis. A probable mechanism for distant organ dysfunction. Dig Dis Sci 1997; 42:1783–1788.
- Olanders K, Börjesson A, Zhao X, Andersson R. Effects of anticoagulant treatment on intestinal ischaemia and reperfusion injury in rats. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2005;49:517-524.
- Opie EL. The relation of cholelithiasis to disease of the pancreas and to fat necrosis. Johns Hopkins Hosp Bull 1901;12:19–21.
- Ottesen LH, Bladbjerg EM, Osman M, Lausten SB, Jacobsen NO, Gram J, Jensen SL. Protein C activation during the initial phase of experimental acute pancreatitis in the rabbit. Dig Surg. 1999;16:486-495.
- Ozturk F, Gul M, Esrefoglu M, Ates B. The contradictory effects of nitric oxide in caerulein-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. Free Radic Res. 2008;42:289-296.
- Pannala R, Kidd M, Modlin IM. Acute pancreatitis: a historical perspective. Pancreas. 2009;38:355-366.
- Pastor CM, Vonlaufen A, Georgi F, Hadengue A, Morel P, Frossard JL. Neutrophil depletion--but not prevention of Kupffer cell activation-decreases the severity of caerulein-induced acute pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:1219-1224.
- Pawlinski R, Mackman N. Tissue factor, coagulation proteases, and protease-activated receptors in endotoxemia and sepsis. Crit Care Med 2004; 32(Suppl.): S293–297.
- Pawlinski R, Pedersen B, Schabbauer G, Tencati M, Holscher T, Boisvert W, Andrade-Gordon P, Frank RD, Mackman N.Role of tissue factor and protease-activated receptors in a mouse model of endotoxemia. Blood. 2004;103:1342-1347.
- Pendurthi UR, Rao LV. Factor VIIa/tissue factor-induced signaling: a link between clotting and disease. Vitam Horm. 2002;64:323-355.
- Persson E. Macromolecular substrate affinity for free factor VIIa is independent of a buried protease domain N-terminus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 341: 28–32
- Petrov MS, Loveday BP, Pylypchuk RD, McIlroy K, Phillips AR, Windsor JA. Systematic review and meta-analysis of enteral nutrition formulations in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg. 2009;96:1243-1252.
- Pezzilli R, Billi P, Beltrandi E, Maldini M., Mancini R, Morselli-Labate AM, Miglioli M. Circulating lymphocyte subsets in human acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1995;11:95-100.
- Pezzilli R, Maldini M, Morselli-Labate AM, Barakat B, Romboli E, Beltrandi E, Migliori M, Tomassetti P, Corinaldesi R. Early activation of peripheral lymphocytes in human acute pancreatitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2003;36:360-363.
- Poulsen LK, Jacobsen N, Sorensen BB, Bergenhem NC, Kelly JD, Foster DC, Thastrup O, Ezban M, Petersen LC. Signal transduction via the mitogen activated protein kinase pathway induced by binding of coagulation factor VIIa to tissue factor. J Biol Chem 1998; 273: 6228–6232.

- Qiu F, Lü XS, Huang YK. Effect of low molecular weight heparin on pancreatic micro-circulation in severe acute pancreatitis in a rodent model. Chin Med J (Engl). 2007;120:2260-2263.
- Rabenstein T, Fischer B, Wiessner V, Schmidt H, Radespiel-Tröger M, Hochberger J, Mühldorfer S, Nusko G, Messmann H, Schölmerich J, Schulz HJ, Schönekäs H, Hahn EG, Schneider HT. Lowmolecular-weight heparin does not prevent acute post-ERCP pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2004;59:606-613.
- Radenković D, Bajec D, Ivancevic N, Milic N, Bumbasirevic V, Jeremic V, Djukic V, Stefanovic B, Stefanovic B, Milosevic-Zbutega G, Gregoric P. D-dimer in acute pancreatitis: a new approach for an early assessment of organ failure. Pancreas. 2009;38:655-660.
- Radenković D, Bajec D, Karamarkovic A, Stefanovic B, Milic N, Ignjatović S, Gregoric P, Milicevic M. Disorders of hemostasis during the surgical management of severe necrotising pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2004;29:152-156.
- Rakonczay Z Jr, Hegyi P, Takács T, McCarroll J, Saluja AK. The role of NF-kappaB activation in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis. Gut. 2008;57:259-267.
- Ranson JH, Lackner H, Berman IR, Schinella R. The relationship of coagulation factors to clinical complications of acute pancreatitis. Surgery. 1977;81:502-511.
- Rao AK, Chouhan V, Chen X, Sun L, Boden G. Activation of the tissue factor pathway of blood coagulation during prolonged hyperglycemia in young healthy men. Diabetes. 1999;48:1156-1161.
- Rao LV, Pendurthi UR. Factor VIIa binding to endothelial cell protein C receptor. Thromb Res. 2008;122 Suppl 1:S3-6.
- Redha F, Uhlschmid G, Ammann RW, Freiburghaus AU. Injection of microspheres into pancreatic arteries causes acute haemorrhagic pancreatitis in the rat: a new animal model. Pancreas. 1990;5:188-193.
- Reinhart WH. Fibrinogen--marker or mediator of vascular disease? Vasc Med. 2003;8:211-216.
- Riewald M, Ruf W. Mechanistic coupling of protease signaling and initiation of coagulation by tissue factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:7742-7747.
- Rinderknecht H. Fatal pancreatitis, a consequence of excessive leukocyte stimulation? Int J Pancreatol. 1988;3:105-112.
- Roberts HR, Monroe DM, Hoffman M. Molecular biology and biochemistry of the coagulation factors and pathways of hemostasis. In: Beutler E, Lichtman MA, Coller BS, Kipps TJ, Seligsohn U, eds. William's Hematology. 2001. 6th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 2001:1409-1434.
- Rollins BJ. Chemokines. Blood. 1997;90:909-928.
- Ruf W. The interaction of activated factor VII with tissue factor: insight into the mechanism of cofactormediated activation of activated factor VII. Blood Coagul Fibrinoylsis 1998; 9 (Suppl 1): S73–8.

- Rydzewska G, Kosidlo S, Gabryelewicz A, Rydzewski A. Tissue plasminogen activator, plasminogen activator inhibitor, and other parameters of fibrinolysis in the early stages of taurocholate acute pancreatitis in rats. Int J Pancreatol. 1992;11:161-168.
- Saluja AK, Donovan EA, Yamanaka K, Yamaguchi Y, Hofbauer B, Steer ML. Caerulein-induced in vitro activation of trypsinogen in rat pancreatic acini is mediated by cathepsin B. Gastroenterology 1997 ;113: 304–310.
- Saluja AK, Bhagat L, Lee HS, Bhatia M, Frossard JL, and Steer ML. Secretagogue-induced digestive enzyme activation and cell injury in rat pancreatic acini. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 1999;276:835–842.
- Saluja AK, Lerch MM, Phillips PA, Dudeja V. Why does pancreatic overstimulation cause pancreatitis? Annu Rev Physiol. 2007;69:249-269. Review.
- Sawa H, Ueda T, Takeyama Y, Yasuda T, Matsumura N, Nakajima T, Ajiki T, Fujino Y, Suzuki Y, Kuroda Y. Elevation of plasma tissue factor levels in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol. 2006;41:575-581.
- Sayed S, Cockerill GW, Torsney E, Poston R, Thompson MM, Loftus IM. Elevated tissue expression of thrombomodulatory factors correlates with acute symptomatic carotid plaque phenotype. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2009;38:20-25.
- Schäfer C, Tietz AB, and Goke B. Pathophysiology of acute experimental pancreatitis: Lessons from genetically engineered animal models and new molecular approaches. Digestion 2005;71:162–172.
- Segal I, Chaloner C, Douglas J, John KD, Zaidi A, Cotter L, Appelros S, Borgström A, Braganza JM. Acute pancreatitis in Soweto, South Africa: relationship between trypsinogen load, trypsinogen activation, and fibrinolysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:883-892.
- Senninger N, Moody FG, Coelho JC, van Buren DH. The role of biliary obstruction in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis in the opossum. Surgery. 1986;99:688-693.
- Sharma A, Tao X, Gopal A, Ligon B, Andrade-Gordon P, Steer ML, Perides G. Protection against acute pancreatitis by activation of protease-activated receptor-2. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2005;288:388-395
- Shi C, Zhao X, Wang X, Andersson R. Role of nuclear factor-kappaB, reactive oxygen species and cellular signaling in the early phase of acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005;40:103-108.
- Shimizu I, Wada S, Okahisa T, Kamamura M, Yano M, Kodaira T, Nishino T, Shima K, Ito S. Radioimmunoreactive plasma bradykinin levels and histological changes during the course of caerulein-induced pancreatitis in rats. Pancreas 1993;8:220–225.
- Siegbahn A, Johnell M, Sörensen BB, Petersen LC, Heldin CH. Regulation of chemotaxis by the cytoplasmic domain of tissue factor. Thromb Haemost. 2005;93:27-34.
- Siegbahn A. Cellular consequences upon factor VIIa binding to tissue factor. Haemostasis. 2000;30 Suppl 2:41-47.

- Siller-Matula JM, Plasenzotti R, Spiel A, Quehenberger P, Jilma B. Interspecies differences in coagulation profile. Thromb Haemost. 2008;100:397-404.
- Soejima K, Mizuguchi J, Yuguchi M, Nakagaki T, Higashi S, Iwanaga S. Factor VIIa modified in the 170 loop shows enhanced catalytic activity but does not change the zymogen-like property. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:17229-17235.
- Sörensen BB, Persson E, Freskgård PO, Kjalke M, Ezban M, Williams T, Rao LV. Incorporation of an active site inhibitor in factor VIIa alters the affinity for tissue factor. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:11863-11868.
- Steinberg W, Tenner S. Acute pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 1994;330:1198-1210.
- Stouthard JM, Levi M, Hack CE, Veenhof CH, Romijn HA, Sauerwein HP, van der Poll T. Interleukin-6 stimulates coagulation, not fibrinolysis, in humans. Thromb Haemost. 1996;76:738-742.
- Symmers WSC. Acute alcoholic pancreatitis. Dublin J Med Sci 1917;143:244-247.
- Taylor FB Jr, Chang A, Ruf W, Morrissey JH, Hinshaw L, Catlett R, Blick K, Edgington TS. Lethal E. coli septic shock is prevented by blocking tissue factor with monoclonal antibody. Circ Shock. 1991;33:127-134.
- Taylor FB Jr, Chang AC, Peer G, Li A, Ezban M, Hedner U. Active site inhibited factor VIIa (DEGR VIIa) attenuates the coagulant and interleukin-6 and -8, but not tumor necrosis factor, responses of the baboon to LD100 Escherichia coli. Blood. 1998;91:1609-1615.
- Telek G, Ducroc R, Scoazec JY, Pasquier C, Feldmann G, Rozé C. Differential upregulation of cellular adhesion molecules at the sites of oxidative stress in experimental acute pancreatitis. J Surg Res. 2001;96:56-67.
- Tsiotos GG, Muñoz Juárez M, Sarr MG. Intraabdominal haemorrhage complicating surgical management of necrotising pancreatitis. Pancreas. 1996;12;126-130.
- Tsuang W, Navaneethan U, Ruiz L, Palascak JB, Gelrud A. Hypertriglyceridemic pancreatitis: presentation and management. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:984-991.
- Tukiainen E, Kylänpää ML, Repo H, Orpana A, Methuen T, Salaspuro M, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P. Hemostatic gene polymorphisms in severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2009;38:43-46.
- Ugarova TP, Yakubenko VP. Recognition of fibrinogen by leukocyte integrins. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001; 936:368-385.
- Valent P, Sillaber C, Baghestanian M, Bankl HC, Kiener HP, Lechner K, Binder BR. What have mast cells to do with edema formation, consecutive repair and fibrinolysis? Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1998; 115:2–8
- Vallet B. Microthrombosis in sepsis. Minerva Anaestiol 2001;67:298-301.

- van der Poll T, Levi M, Hack CE, ten Cate H, van Deventer SJ, Eerenberg AJ, de Groot ER, Jansen J, Gallati H, Büller HR, ten Cate JW, Aarden LA. Elimination of interleukin 6 attenuates coagulation activation in experimental endotoxemia in chimpanzees. J Exp Med 1994; 179:1253–1259.
- Vanderslice P, Craik CS, Nadel JA, Caughey GH. Molecular cloning of dog mast cell tryptase and a related protease: structural evidence of a unique mode of serine protease activation. Biochemistry 1989;28:4148–4155
- Van Deventer SJ, Büller HR, ten Cate JW, Aarden LA, Hack CE, Sturk A. Experimental endotoxemia in humans: analysis of cytokine release and coagulation, fibrinolytic, and complement pathways. Blood. 1990;76:2520-2526.
- Wang X, Gjernes E, Prydz H. Factor VIIa induces tissue factor-dependent up-regulation of interleukin-8 in a human keratinocyte line. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:23620-23626.
- Wannamethee SG, Whincup PH, Shaper AG, Rumley A, Lennon L, Lowe GD. Circulating inflammatory and hemostatic biomarkers are associated with risk of myocardial infarction and coronary death, but not angina pectoris, in older men. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7:1605-1611.
- Vaquero E, Gukovsky I, Zaninovic V, Gukovskaya AS, Pandol SJ. Localized pancreatic NF-kappaB activation and inflammatory response in taurocholate-induced pancreatitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;280:1197-1208.
- Warren BL, Eid A, Singer P, Pillay SS, Carl P, Novak I, Chalupa P, Atherstone A, Pénzes I, Kübler A, Knaub S, Keinecke HO, Heinrichs H, Schindel F, Juers M, Bone RC, Opal SM. KyberSept Trial Study Group: High-dose antithrombin III in severe sepsis. A randomised controlled trial. JAMA 2001;286:1869-1878.
- Watanabe T, Yasuda M, Yamamoto T. Angiogenesis induced by tissue factor in vitro and in vivo. Thromb Res. 1999;96:183-189.
- Weber CK, Adler G. From acinar cell damage to systemic inflammatory response: Current concepts in acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2001;1:356-362.
- Welty-Wolf KE, Carraway MS, Miller DL, Ortel TL, Ezban M, Ghio AJ, Idell S, Piantadosi CA. Coagulation blockade prevents sepsis-induced respiratory and renal failure in baboons. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164:1988-1996.
- Versteeg HH, Ruf W. Emerging insights into tissue factor-dependent signaling events. Semin Thromb Hemost 2006; 32: 24–32.
- Wheeler AP, Bernard GR. Treating patients with severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 1999;340:207-214.
- Wilcox JN, Smith KM, Schwartz SM, Gordon D. Localization of tissue factor in the normal vessel wall and in the atherosclerotic plaque. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:2839-43.
- Vincent JL, Artigas A, Petersen LC, Meyer C. A multicenter, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, dose-escalation trial assessing safety and efficacy of active site inactivated recombinant

factor VIIa in subjects with acute lung injury or acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med. 2009;37:1874-1880.

- Voss R, Matthias FR, Borkowski G, Reitz D. Activation and inhibition of fibrinolysis in septic patients in an internal intensive care unit. Br J Haematol. 1990;75:99-105.
- Xu H, Ploplis VA, Castellino FJ. A coagulation factor VII deficiency protects against acute inflammatory responses in mice. J Pathol. 2006;210:488-496.
- Yamaguchi H, Weidenbach H, Lührs H, Lerch MM, Dickneite G, Adler G. Combined treatment with C1 esterase inhibitor and antithrombin III improves survival in severe acute experimental pancreatitis. Gut. 1997;40:531-535.
- Yamanel L. Mas MR, Comert B, Isik AT, Aydin S, Mas N, Deveci S, Ozyurt M, Tasci I, Unal T. The effect of activated protein C on experimental acute necrotising pancreatitis. Crit Care 2005;9:184-190.
- Yasuda T, Ueda T, Kamei K, Shinzaki W, Sawa H, Shinzeki M, Ku Y, Takeyama Y. Plasma tissue factor pathway inhibitor levels in patients with acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenteol 2009;44:1071-1079.
- Yu JL, Rak JW. Shedding of tissue factor (TF)-containing microparticles rather than alternatively spliced TF is the main source of TF activity released from human cancer cells. J Thromb Haemost. 2004;2:2065-2067.
- Zhao X, Dib M, Wang X, Widegren B, Andersson R. Influence of mast cells on the expression of adhesion molecules on circulating and migrating leukocytes in acute pancreatitis-associated lung injury. Lung. 2005;183:253-264.
- Österud B. Tissue factor in neutrophils: No. J Thromb Haemost 2004; 2:218-220.
- Österud B, Breimo ES, Olsen JO. Blood borne tissue factor revisited. Thromb Res. 2008;122:432-434.
- Österud B. Tissue factor expression in blood cells. Thromb Res. 2010:125;S31-34.

PAPERS I-V

Errata

Paper I:

- It says in the text that MPO in colon was increased in the acute pancreatitis model, and reduced by pre-treatment, however this was not the case. No rise in colon MPO was detected in any of the groups, and hence no effect of pre-treatment was seen in the colon.
- The corrections for multiple comparisons described in the section on *Statistics* has not been taken under consideration in the *Discussion*-part, concerning which results are to be interpreted as statistically significant.

Paper II:

• On page 3 in the section entitled *Statistics*, it should say "p<0.05 was considered statistically significant", instead of p<0.005.

Paper III:

• Under the third and fourth box-plots presented in the paper, the texts under the pictures are wrong. Under the third box-plot it should say "Figure 3. MIP-2 in plasma (pg/ml). FVIIai treatment administered after 30 min". Under the fourth box-plot it should say "Figure 4. PT, FVIIai treatment administered after 30 min".